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RESULTS

&
Year ended 31 March
HE=ZH=1—HIFE

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AR ARAA

&

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZERAE | ZERNE ZEFRLE ZEZINE FFLE
HK$’°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T SR T#C T T#C
TURNOVER BER
Contract revenue HRBA 2,140,998 | 2,064,944 1,510,651 1,262,663 1,504,731
Property gross rental income ESIEAON L 11,687 13,314 18,545 12,152 1,304
2,152,685 2,078,258 1,529,196 1,274,815 1,506,035
Contract costs FER )57 (2,024,350) (1,940,307)  (1,447,906)  (1,203,545)  (1,437,072)
Property expenses EL 3 (1,561) (1,283) (1,441) (1,118) (177)
Gross profit EF 126,774 136,668 79,849 70,152 68,786
Other income and gains oAt W A R W 16,387 40,609 36,322 65,278 18,170
Administrative and other expenses 1 5T At o 32 (213,655) (50,611) (42,613) (55,669) (35,948)
Finance costs #EEN (18,808) (33,160) (30,504) (20,903) (980)
Share of profits and losses of Al 3 ) ¢ )
jointly-controlled entities Z R K 1R 106 - - - (11)
Tax FiJH 9,947 (17,408) (5,914) (17,041) (9,488)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR SRR OFR) (79,249) 76,098 37,140 41,817 40,529
BAgI;ANCE SHEETS
B AR
At 31 March
H=H=+—H
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZERAE | ZRRNE ZERLE ZEEIAF ZFRFLE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T#T T TH#o T TH#o
[nvestment properties REWE 471,892 613,104 412,810 518,790 229,800
Property, plant and equipment ERS T Y& 17,136 17,965 12,204 20,504 17,840
Properties held for development FAEERZ M 127,000 115,500 115,586 115,500 -
Goodwill [k - - - - 14,717
Interests in jointly-controlled entities A 3 IR s ) 2 BE 106 - - - 11
Prepaid land lease and other A LA R
non-current assets JAth I i B 5 111,970 114,985 9,709 670 33,836
Current assets W& 681,197 703,175 650,869 371,320 395,294
Current liabilities WA (598,660) (532,467) (622,974) (370,257) (326,108)
Non-current liabilities e En & (392,576) (537,745) (269,627) (385,275) (135,955)
Net assets jegrdeaic 418,065 494,517 308,577 271,252 229,435
Issued capital DT RA 37,182 37,132 23,519 23,519 23,519
Reserves it 380,883 457,385 285,058 247,133 205,916
Total equity e 418,065 494,517 308,577 211,252 229,435
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
HfEEBREAERAAE

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

EY A

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 19 5 T

e Turnover was up 3.6% to HK$2,153 million for 2008/09 ¢ ZZZN "FIEEZEEF LT —RKH
from 2007/08 of HK$2,078 million TF=EH&EBL BROFFEL " BNAEEN
ZHELETNEE B ET3.6%

e Net loss was HK$79 million for 2008/09, as compared to ¢ ZZFF/N FIEEZERFEL LT LE
net profit of HK$76 million for 2007/08 Bt > Wi ZFEL B\ AR
HETAEEET

e Loss per share was HK5.3 cents for 2008/09, as compared o /)N BIUAEEZ BB E %5384 -

to earnings per share of HK6.5 cents for 2007/08 M=%t/ F)\EENLERERGCSH
il
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
wmohsERARAA

2

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV R 8

PERFORMANCE

Hit by the global economic downturn following the
financial turmoil in late 2008, the Group recorded a net loss
attributable to shareholders of HK$79,249,000 for the year
under review, as compared to a net profit of HK$76,098,000
for the previous year. The net loss primarily resulted from
the loss of HK$121,476,000 on the changes in fair values of
the Group’s investment properties and the impairment loss of
HK$34,920,000 on properties held for development, which
were in turn attributable to the general downward trend of the
property markets in Hong Kong. Despite the adverse result
of our property segments, our construction, maintenance and
engineering segments have continued to record satisfactory
profits.

The changes in fair value of properties have no direct adverse
effect on the Group’s cash flows or working capital position.
The Group’s daily operations are running smoothly, and the
Group’s financial position has remained intact, as reflected in
the sound cash position at 31 March 2009.

Loss per share was HK5.3 cents for the year under review,
as compared to earnings per share of HK6.5 cents for the

previous year.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final

dividend (2008: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Construction, Maintenance and Engineering Works

Despite the general economic downturn, our construction,
maintenance and engineering works segments have been
performing satisfactorily and steadily. Turnover from
construction, maintenance and engineering contracts
increased to HK$2,141 million for the year under review
from HK$2,065 million for the previous year. In response to
the significant increases in material costs since 2007 towards
mid to late 2008, we have taken measures and managed to
contain our contract costs during the second half of the year
under review. As a result of effective costs control measures,
the overall profit margin from our construction, maintenance
and engineering works segments was around 5.4% for the
year under review, which represents only a slight decrease
compared to 6.0% for the previous year.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £E#%
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV R 8

During the year under review, our maintenance work segment
completed two term contracts for the alterations, additions,
maintenance and repair of buildings and properties for
Architectural Services Department (ASD) in respect of the
areas covering (i) Kwun Tong, Mongkok and Yaumatei, and
(ii) Sham Shui Po, Tsuen Wan and Kwai Tsing. As our works
under these two term contracts are highly regarded by the
ASD, we have successfully secured the renewed contracts
for another three-year term (2008-2011) covering the same
areas. In addition, we have also obtained from the ASD a
term contract for the design and construction of alterations,
additions and improvements works for hospitals. We are
pleased to report that the aggregate contract value for these
three new term contracts amount to HK$1,111 million.

On the other hand, our construction work segment completed
several projects for the construction of public sports and
recreation facilities, including improvements to Hong Kong
Coliseum, Kowloon Park Swimming Pool and Hong Kong
Stadium, and Queen Elizabeth Stadium. With our satisfactory
work for these projects, we have further secured the
construction of a swimming pool complex in Tung Chung with
a contract value of HK$366 million.

During the year under review, our civil engineering work
segment has also achieved encouraging performance by
securing two significant contracts from Water Supplies
Department in respect of the replacement and rehabilitation
of water mains in Wanchai District and on Hong Kong Island
East, with an aggregate contract value of HK$710 million.

Property Investment and Development

Our investment properties were valued at an aggregate value
of HK$471,892,000 as of 31 March 2009 by independent
professional valuers. As a result of the valuation, we recorded

a loss on changes in fair value of investment properties of

approximately HK$121,476,000.

&

®ofs AR AN

7 [E] AR JBE T > A SR ] 2 R TR 43 5 i JE
SR VA - g - fREE KA - L RS
by 2 2 2 B A A0 > A B b I 25 ) B - HE A
Bt > DL R (i) RAK Y ~ R REFH - ke
SEE AR B AT % W TR E A A Y AR Ik
WA o BRI > A ) R h BUAS A W M I 5 A =
E(CERFNEEZRE——F)NET A4 - Ik
b > AL IR A 2 S R s R R B R e
B~ I R E TR AL - RAMKAR R
W HETEHE A A5 E % 1,111,000,000% 76

i > A 2 A TR 4 B 50 B A 1
EALER RN RENIEE > BEEEHEE
i~ JUTE A B UK A R AW R IR > DL R BRI
R E MR TR - REMEBETZSHANT
FEA AT » PR PR B % S0 Bl i ok it
B A > HAE %366,000,000% 7€ ©

P TR A B > AS 4R ) 2 R TR 43 R A
K s B T TE AR e R A K A T B — A I
FBERKELREMERGH  SAEMER
710,000,000¥7C » B R B N 5% -

WEBE RER
MN-BRZNEZHAZ1T—H » REARBEYER
T 3 25 3 A G ST 2 484 % 471,892,000 76
A EATAGE » AREE SR A T EN T
5 9 2 G HH £9121,476,0009 G ©
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
wmohsERARAA

2

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV R 8

In October 2007, we completed the acquisition of Nos.
92A-C, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong, which comprised a whole
block of residential building consisting of 12 vacant units. We
have determined to redevelop the properties for maximum
income. In around June 2009, the whole block of building was
demolished. However, development scheme, area schedule and
building plan have yet to be determined. The redevelopment
plan is scheduled to complete in 2012.

On 11 July 2008, we obtained the court order to sell all the
undivided shares in the lots at Nos. 125-127 Tung Choi
Street, Mongkok, Kowloon by way of a public auction for
redevelopment purposes. Further on 19 September 2008,
we successfully bid for the lots and agreed to acquire the
remaining unit at No. 127 Tung Choi Street not previously
owned by us for a consideration of HK$42,571,200. With the
completion of the transaction in November 2008, we have
acquired all the shares in the lots at Nos. 123, 125 and 127
Tung Choi Street. With the approval of the Town Planning
Board, we plan to redevelop these properties into a hotel. The

redevelopment is scheduled to complete in 2012.

The development work of a two-storey luxury residential
house, with a spacious garden and a swimming pool, at TPTL
No. 180 in Tai Po is progressing and expected to complete at
around the end of 2009.

PROSPECT

Hong Kong saw a sharp decline by 7.8% in GDP in the
first quarter of 2009 over a year earlier. Whilst the overall
economic data remain gloomy, property markets are projected
to remain weak for the rest of 2009 and will take a longer term
to recover. There are signs that developers have called a halt
to construction projects. The conditions for the private sector
of the construction markets will continue to be difficult.

o ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 FEHR%E
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV R 8

However, in response to the economic recession, the Hong
Kong Government has put forward measures to create job
opportunities specifically for the construction industry where
unemployment is most serious by enhancing medium-sized and
minor works projects and expediting infrastructure projects.
With our good reputation and sound track records established
in the public construction and engineering sector over the
years, we are confident that the Group will continue to secure

more jobs and sustain profitability.

Facing all the challenges ahead, we will maintain our cautious
approach in project management and cost control. In the
meantime, we will actively seek opportunities for expansion or

diversification of our businesses to the mainland China.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Directors, I would like to extend our
gratitude and sincere appreciation to all management and staff
members of the Group for their hard work and dedication and
all the shareholders of the Company for their support.

On behalf of the Board

Ngai Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 July 2009
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ’
ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ@&d&‘

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
B3P

Percentage held

Address Use Tenure by the Group
A AR 1 5 A i
b ik JjipZ £ Hh ik

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2009
AEMR_FZLAEZH] = ARAHYE

I.  Properties in Hong Kong

RBEBZ2WE

1. Shop Nos. G29A2, G28, G65, G64A and Shops Long term 100%
G64B, G27A and G27B, G26A and G26B )i lease
on Ground Floor of Portion B, A

Argyle Centre, Phase 1, No. 688 Nathan Road,
No. 65 Argyle Street,

Mongkok, Kowloon

JUTHE WE 4 5 BB 688%% - T B 655K

E A4 v — BB #L T G29A2 ~ G28

G65 ~ G64A ~ G64B ~ G27A ~ G27B ~

G26A K G26BYE &l
2. Shop Nos. 5 and 6 and Storeroom 3, Shops Medium term 100%
1st Floor, Fou Wah Centre, No. 210 Castle Peak Road, i il lease
Tsuen Wan, New Territories A RLA
B L E2105% & HE bl
LAEES T 655% il B35 T 4 8
3. No. 155 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Hong Kong Office Medium term 100%
BB LRI S AT 2 1559% WA= lease
AL A
4. Garden Suite No. 37B of House 37 and Car Parking Residential Medium term 100%
Space No. 78 on Platform A of Forest Hill, B lease
No. 31 Lo Fai Road, Tai Po, New Territories eB Y iR

TR S B 3 1 % 4 LSS 7
3TIRBAE 2 55 R AF 65 785511 AL
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’ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
&‘ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
B3P

Address

Hb ik

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2009 (continued)
AEER ZZFZIAEZH=Z1T—BREHHE )

1.  Properties in Hong Kong (continued)

REEZYE (8)

5. Flat E, 17th Floor, Tower 2,
The Greenwood (Phase 1),
Laguna Verde, No. 8 Laguna Verde Avenue,
Hung Hom, Kowloon
JU HE AL ) ¥ % 1 8 9% ¥ 4% 3¢
RRBETF (S5 1H]) SE2 M1 THEE S

6.  Car Parking Space Nos. 54 and 56 on Ground Floor,
Oxford Court, Nos. 24-26 Braemar Hill Road,
North Point, Hong Kong
A UL A 2 G (B 24-265% AR
b 54%5% B 5655 I B AL

7. Unit B including carport (s) and the garden,
Riverain Bayside,
No. 3985 Tai Po Road Yuen Chau Tsai,
Tai Po, New Territories
TSI A 2 % 0 YN AF BE3985 5%
il YA J B B AL 2 3 B A % A6 B

8. No. 9 Belfran Road, Ho Man Tin, Kowloon
JUE ] SC H 25 3B O %R

@ ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 FEHR%E

Use

s

Residential

e

Car park
THHLAL

Residential
£

Residential
e

Percentage held

Tenure by the Group
A AR 1 5 A i
AW "

Medium term

lease

HHIALA

Long term

lease

R

Medium term

lease

IR

Long term

lease

RYIAA

100%

100%

100%

100%



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ’
mﬁﬁ&ﬁm&m~‘

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
B3P

Percentage held

Address Use Tenure by the Group
A 4R 1 5 A i
b ik JjipZ £ Hh ik

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2009 (continued)
AEER ZZFZIAEZH=Z1T—BREHHE )

II. Property in the People’s Republic of China

UE JNBLY ] Pk S
1. Block M-K39, Sunshine Holiday Villas Residential N/A * 100%
Yingchengzi Village, Badaling Town = AN

Yangqing Country, Beijing
People’s Republic of China
GiE YNNI

A 5 A B R

J\BE S SR WA

Wi 6 i B i SEM-K39

* The real estate title certificate has yet to be obtained.

o AR R

II1. Properties for/under development in Hong Kong

R AR R 2R

1.  Nos. 123, 125, 127 Tung Choi Street, Hotel Long term 100%
Mongkok, Kowloon W E lease
(The Remaining Portion of Kowloon Inland KRB A
Lot Nos. 1702, 1703 and 1704)
Site area: 248.90 square meter
Stage of development: Plan for proposed use
approved by Town Planning
Development

Expected completion date: 2012

JUBEE A B AT123 ~ 12512798
(JUBE N BB 581702 ~ 1703 170458 % BE)

BT R 248.90°F J %
PEREE . R T A AL ) O T B 2 Btk
WHEE T HH - TR
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’ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
&‘ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
B3P

Percentage held

Address Use Tenure by the Group
A AR 1 5 A i
b ik JjipZ £ "

PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AT 31 MARCH 2009 (continued)
AEER ZZFZIAEZH=Z1T—BREHHE )

III. Properties for/under development in Hong Kong (continued)

REEAEER R 2 (8
2. Tai Po Town Lot No. 180, Tai Po Kau, Residential Medium term 100%
Tai Po, New Territories £ lease
(Tai Po Town Lot No. 180) HHIALA
Site area: 1,000 square meter
Stage of development: Construction work in progress

Expected completion date: End of 2009
TSR I DR R 3 T b BE 5B 180 %%

88 T A 1,000°F J5 2k
ELIRE : B TR EAT
HEHA T HB - ZRFRIJVEFER
3. Nos. 92A-C, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong Residential Medium term 100%
(Inland Lot No. 7551) B lease
Site area: 1,393.53 square meter AL A
Stage of development: Development scheme,

area schedule and
building plan not yet
available

Expected completion date: 2012

HWHRMIEO2AFE2CHE

(7 Hb BESB75515%)

b 8 1A 1,393.53F J5 K

BB - WA T A~ R P % s A Rl
FEtR T HY ¢ e St S
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

<&
ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬂ&‘

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

LIS B g 0p 2

At 31 March 2009, the gross and outstanding values of
the Group’s substantial contracts on hand amounted to
approximately HK$4,195 million and HK$2,942 million
respectively. Details of these substantial contracts are set out

MN-FRZRE=ZA=Z+—H > KEHZEKX
FHAABMBERRBERAGHEES AR
4,195,000,000%% 7€ 5% 2,942,000,000%% 7T © I 55 H
RKFHEELHZFHMERRI T -

below:
Projects Approximate contract value
¥ H 1 R BE &Y R M
HKS$ million
H #E T
Road and Drainage Works, Waterworks and Slope Works
T B W LR~ K LR R A LR
Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 1 Phase 2 — Mains on Hong Kong Islands 223
R RSB KA AR IR B 2 - W B KA TR
Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains, Stage 2 — Mains in Tsuen Wan 45
B RAE KA FH ) SR 2B B — 2R K T
Improvement to Hong Kong Central Mid-level and High Level Areas 235
Water Supply — Remaining Works, Construction of Service Reservoirs,
Pumping Stations and Associated Main Laying
b o e L B DA Bt K S ) — R R R — B K R N K ik e A B K A R
Trenching Works for Reinstatement of Tin Wan — Kennedy Road 275KV Circuits and for 6
Connection of Cyberport — Marsh Road 275 KV Circuits at Kai Lung Wan Reservoir Road
S 5 K I 4V A R R M A 2 75 T AR A I A T % SRS s R
275 TR 78 I R R AR T TR
Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 3 — Mains in Wanchai District 348
A K MG B K AE T SRS RE BE — M AT ROk TR
Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 3 — Mains on Hong Kong Island East 362
B B A KA T SRS B — W R ROK A TR
Road, Utilities & External Works in Lamma Power Station and Its Extension and 16

Miscellaneous Improvement Works

T % T B B S VS PR B TR B M I TR
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND

LIS B g 0p 2

Projects

¥ H

Building Construction
BTl 5
The Construction of a Primary School at Development near Choi Wan Road

and Jordan Valley, Kwun Tong
TEBIEVE R AT ZHE WL 2 R IH H B /NE

Construction of Ngau Chi Wan Recreation Ground at Wong Tai Sin, Kowloon

SHLSEE B A 2F b 385 A L

Fitting-out Works for Podium of the Proposed Residential Development
(Package One) at TKOTL No. 70, Area 86, Site F, Tseung Kwan O

Approximate contract value

B 2R £Y
HKS$ million
B AT

96

154

95

TS B [ 55 S 6 I T W T L BOR T0SR R B BRI H R B 2P AR TR

Main Contract for the Proposed Rehabilitation of Yue Kwong Chuen
Phase 1 at 26 Aberdeen Reservoir Road, Aberdeen
A WA KR IE B 2698 WO 58 — WIE R TR

Construction of Swimming Pool Complex in Area 2, Tung Chung

TP SRCT 55— Ik LS 95 Dk AR 6 2 B

103

366

Supply & Installation of Primary Structure and Provision of Attendance for Construction 52

of Guan Yin Statue, Tsz Shan Monastery Development at Ting Kok, Tai Po

Ay TA RS AT £ B 28 1L = 5% e T o) 0 O A I M R % 3 R A I BRI e

Building Maintenance

B R AR

Term Contract for Design and Construction of Minor Works to Government and

683

Subvented Properties for which the Architectural Services Department is responsible

at Hong Kong, Kowloon, New Territories and Outlying Islands
R AE WA S B - JUHE ~ BT S B W BUR B
AINBIAEE TR E A4

Term Contract for Conversion of Aqua Privies into Flushing Toilets for

which the Architectural Services Department is Responsible

R R N A0 ok KRBT 2 R A A
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS ON HAND
LIS B g 0p 2

Projects Approximate contract value
¥ H R BERY BT
HKS$ million

4T

Concrete Repairs and Painting Protection Works for Block 16 to Block 51 at Sha Tau Kok Chuen 11

VD BE AR SR 1688 58 5 1 P 2 TR B e A A8 S i R R AR

Term Contract for Design and Construction of Alterations, Additions and 375

Improvement Works for Hospitals

we At B WL B 2 o o RlE TRZEH SR

Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance and Repair of Buildings 328
and Lands and Other Properties for which the Architectural Services Department
is Responsible (Designated Area: Kwun Tong, Mongkok and Yaumatei) (2008-2011)

REACE YO o R T R R B A X
(FeE i « BiYE ~ HEA Riish) (CEZRNERE - ——4)

Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions, Maintenance & Repair of Buildings and Lands 408
and Other Properties for which the Architectural Services Department is Responsible
(Designated Area: Sham Shui Po, Tsuen Wan & Kwai Tsing) (2008-2011)

REACE O i~ PR RS - R R R A A
(FRE M : KRS ~ ZEREF) (CERNERF——4)

Utilities Civil Engineering

AL ATHR

Civil Works Term Contract No. CWT E/30/2008 for PCCW 75
AR AR TR E A AR BECWT E/30/2008

Outstanding Contract Value

By project category 2%
A 58 A £ A N . Building Maintenance
I H A2 R

. Utilities Civil Engineering
AF AT
30%

Road, Drainage, Waterworks and Slope
T T o TR KT AR AR TR

Building Construction

M g 5
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND

ANALYSIS
% BI ok i Be 23 H

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Our construction and engineering works are principally carried
out by the Company’s subsidiaries, Able Engineering Company
Limited (“Able”), Excel Engineering Company Limited

(“Excel”) and Gadelly Construction Company Limited
(“Gadelly”).

Able Engineering Company Limited
Substantial contracts completed by Able during the year under

review included:

e Bathroom Improvement Works Inside Domestic Flats at
Kai King Lau of Cho Yiu Chuen (Phase 2)

e Replumbing Works for Tsz Lok Estate

e [mprovement to Hong Kong Coliseum

e External Works for Podium and Landscape Area for
Proposed Residential Development (Package One) at
TKOTL No.70, Area 86, Site F, Tseung Kwan O, N.T.

e  External Wall Repair Works to the Residential Towers of
Tierra Verde, Tsing Yi

e (Carcass Work Contract for the Proposed Residential
Development (Package One) at T.K.O.T.L. No. 70, Area
86, Site F, Tsueng Kwan O

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £E#®H&
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Main Contract for the Construction of a Residential
Development at T.C.T.L. No. 4, Tung Chung Station
Development Package 2, Phase 4

Improvement to Kowloon Park Swimming Pool and Hong
Kong Stadium

Improvement to Queen Elizabeth Stadium

Interior Fitting-out Works Direct Contract for Proposed
Residential Development at Lot No. 2081 in D.D. 109,
Kam Tin, Yuen Long

Club House Fitting-out Works for the Proposed
Residential Development at Lot No. 2081 in D.D. 109,
Kam Tin, Yuen Long

Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions,
Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services
Department is Responsible (Designated Area: Kwun
Tong, Mongkok and Yaumatei) (2005-2008)

Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions,
Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services
Department is Responsible (Designated Area: Sham Shui
Po, Tsuen Wan and Kwai Tsing) (2005-2008)

SR A% 3 P ) T A I R T B SR
4R R R H LR G

JUHE 2 L Ykt e A 9 K Bk 35 i l TAE

PR HEE HERE TR
JG BT 8 FH S8 10940 Mo BE 55208198 M & s e
BRHAWMNBEETREZGH

JG BT 8 FH S8 10940 Mo BE 55208198 M & s e
BERRTEH WM s TR

HEEE R - - R R AT - b
Fe Fo Aoy 38 2 58 W1 5 #) (4 2 Hb [ = 9BL30% -
WEAG Rl i) (R FRAEEZFENG)

EEEYCE e RERAEEET - -
M Je JC At 4y 56 2 S W] ) (R S MUl 2 TROK
B EEEER) CEFREEZFEN
)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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During the year under review, Able was awarded the following
substantial contract with an aggregate contract value of

approximately HK$1,727 million:

e  Fitting-out Works for Podium of the Proposed Residential
Development (Package One) at TKOTL No. 70, Area 86,
Site F, Tseung Kwan O

e  Main Contract for the Proposed Rehabilitation of Yue
Kwong Chuen Phase 1 at 26 Aberdeen Reservoir Road,
Aberdeen

e  Construction of Swimming Pool Complex in Area 2,
Tung Chung

e Supply & Installation of Primary Structure and Provision
of Attendance for Construction of Guan Yin Statue, Tsz
Shan Monastery Development at Ting Kok, Tai Po

¢ Term Contract for Design and Construction of
Alterations, Additions and Improvement Works for
Hospitals

e Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions,
Maintenance and Repair of Buildings and Lands and
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services
Department is Responsible (Designated Area: Kwun
Tong, Mongkok and Yaumatei) (2008-2011)

¢ Term Contract for the Alterations, Additions,
Maintenance & Repair of Buildings and Lands and
Other Properties for which the Architectural Services
Department is Responsible (Designated Area: Sham Shui
Po, Tsuen Wan & Kwai Tsing) (2008-2011)

Subsequent to the balance sheet date and up to the date
of this report, Able was awarded the following substantial
contract with an aggregate value of HK$452 million:

e Redecoration Works in Lower Wong Tai Sin (II) Estate

e Design and Construction of a General Outpatient Clinic
and an Integrated Community Mental Health Support
Services Center and a Long Stay Care Home in Tin Shui
Wai Area 109

e Conversion of Yau Ma Tei Theatre and Red Brick
Building into a Xiqu Activity Centre
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Excel Engineering Company Limited and Gadelley
Construction Company Limited
Substantial contracts completed by Excel during the year

under review included:

e Roadwork (R1, Portion of R2 & R6A) Direct Contract
for Proposed Residential Development (Package One) at
T.K.O.T.L. No. 70, Area 86, Site F, Tseung Kwan O

e Building Repairs and Maintenance Term Contract

2007/2010 for Hong Kong Polytechnic University

During the year under review, Excel was awarded the following
substantial contracts with an aggregate contract value of
approximately HK$726 million:

e Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 3
— Mains in Wanchai District

e Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 3
— Mains on Hong Kong Island East

e Road, Utilities & External Works in Lamma Power
Station and Its Extension and Miscellaneous

Improvement Works

Subsequent to the balance sheet date and up to the date of
this report, Gadelly was awarded the substantial contract for
Replacement and Rehabilitation of Water Mains Stage 4,
Mains in Kowloon — Condition Survey of Water Mains, with a

contract value of HK$28 million.

Property investment

For the year under review, the Group recorded a gross rental
income of approximately HK$11,687,000, down 12% from
HK$13,314,000 for the previous year. The decrease was
primarily caused by the general poor market conditions in
2009 following the global financial turmoil in late 2008.

2 TR B2 A B A AT LA

W [ BEAR FE N > 16 28 8 R Z TR B A B4

o i VREHh 5 55 6 [ I W T M B AR 7058 B
e E (JHE —) FE R TR (R
#AR2LKROA) HEBERH

e FAWHLABHMFHECAREEHEH
2007/20104F

B4R N > BRI THE KA » TRA
1 #1726,000,000% 7€ :

o B RAEBUKA B SR 3M B— AT ROK
T

o H B BUKAT 3R B — W B UK AT
T

o HHY BETE RO ILIRE TR A RAE B - 0 R
e hh 1 TR

T 45 B AR BBk A RS FY) A Ok > R B
547 B 3 0 R A AROK A S B SR 4% B > JLBE KA
TRE-KERUHENERGH > TRAMED
28,000,000% JC °

WX

WA RN REEBFHAMSEBRAR
11,687,000% JC » ¥ % 4% 2 13,314,000% 7¢ F 2k
12% o $AM WA WA T) EEBHR BT )\ F4%
WA 2R ERERE > ZERNIEZTHARDN
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$206,591,000 (excluding pledged deposits
of HK$5,512,000), representing an increase by 147% from
2008 of HK$83,802,000 (excluding pledged deposits of
HK$6,035,000). Current ratio, measured as total current assets

divided by total current liabilities decreased to 1.1 as of 31
March 2009 from 2008 of 1.3.

Meanwhile, bank overdrafts and loans at 31 March 2009
decreased by 16% to approximately HK$583,150,000, as
compared to 2008 of HK$692,562,000. At 31 March 2009, the
Group’s net gearing has continued to improve to 89% from
122% for 2008, measured as total bank borrowings less pledged
deposits and cash and cash equivalents, divided by total
shareholders’ equity.

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s bank borrowings are all
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and on a floating rate

basis.

Due to the general decrease in market rates, interest
expenses, before capitalisation, decreased sharply by
43% to HK$19,041,000 for the year under review (2008:
HK$33,160,000). Interest of HK$233,000 (2008: nil) was
capitalised and included in the carrying amount of properties

under development during the year under review.

Our banking facilities, comprising primarily bank loans and
overdrafts, amounted to approximately HK$1,091 million
at 31 March 2009 (2008: HK$1,320 million), of which
approximately HK$465 million (2008: HK$498 million) was

unutilised.
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Charges on Assets

At 31 March 2009, bank balance and fixed deposits of
approximately HK$5,512,000 (2008: HK$6,035,000),
investment properties of approximately HK$469,150,000
(2008: HK$610,300,000), buildings of approximately
HK$9,766,000 (2008: HK$10,025,000), prepaid land
lease payments of approximately HK$114,985,000 (2008:
HK$118,000,000), properties held for development of
HK$127,000,000 (2008: HK$115,500,000) and property
held for sale of HK$40,833,000 (2008: HK$44,833,000) were
pledged in favour of certain banks to secure the banking
facilities granted by those banks to the Group. In addition,
accounts receivable of certain construction contracts of the

Group were assigned in favour of certain banks to secure the

banking facilities at 31 March 2009.

Contingent liabilities

At 31 March 2009, the Group had contingent liabilities in
relation to guarantees in respect of performance bonds in
favour of contract customers amounting to HK$19,325,000
(2008: HK$133,717,000). In addition, at 31 March 2009, the
Company had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees
given to banks against the facilities granted to subsidiaries

of the Company utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$627 million (2008: HK$822 million).

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At 31 March 2009 the Group employed 269 full-time staff
in Hong Kong. The Group remunerates its staff based on
their performance and work experience and the prevailing
market rates. Staff benefits include mandatory provident fund,

medical insurance and training programmes.

The Company also maintains a share option scheme. The
purposes of the share option scheme are to provide incentives
for the full-time employees and executives, to recognise their
contributions to the growth of the Group and to provide
more flexibility for the Group in formulating its remuneration
policy.

¥ e G
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Jt) ~ BEWEL1469,150,0008 70 (B EFE )\ 4 ¢
610,300,000% 7€) ~ H5 £9,766,000¥ ¢ (=&
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. NGAI Chun Hung, aged 46, is the Chairman of
the Company. Mr. Ngai has extensive experience in the
construction industry. He is responsible for the management of
the Board and the strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Ngai
and Mr. Yau Kwok Fai, Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, are brothers-in-law.

Mr. YAU Kwok Fai, aged 43, is the Deputy Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Yau graduated
with First Class Honours Degree in Civil Engineering from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic and obtained a Master of Science
Degree with Distinction in Structural Steel Design from the
University of London and a Diploma of the Imperial College
of the United Kingdom. He is a Chartered Engineer and
a corporate member of the Institution of Civil Engineers,
the Institution of Structural Engineers and the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers, a Registered Professional Engineer
(Civil & Structural) and a Registered Structural Engineer.
Mr. Yau is responsible for formulating the policy and
overall development and the day-to-day management and
administration of the Group’s operations. Mr. Yau and Mr.

Ngai, Chairman of the Company, are brothers-in-law.

Mr. LI Chi Pong, aged 52, is an Executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Li is the Managing Director of Excel
Engineering Company Limited and is responsible for its
overall management and operation. He graduated from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic with a Higher Diploma in Civil
Engineering in 1979. He has worked in the construction
industry for 30 years and gained extensive experience in
the executive role in construction companies. He is the
Authorized Signatory for foundation, site formation works and
general building contractor of the Buildings Department. Mr.
Li is a member of the Contractors Registration Committee

Panel and the Contractors Registration Committee.

@ ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 FEHR%E

W

AT HE A

B e 2k > 400K 0 AN F T o BB AE R
RROEM R - M AT ER G IR RAA
B 2 Sk AR ) A o BRSS AR T AR A R AR
B A7 B A B B e A 2 KB o

U BB A > 4358 > ACA v H B R AT B
Wik A A WE T LR TR — s B2 8
fir > FLAR DL {8 S i AR IR 5% R iy S50 K B2 A 4 Sl A
BT PR AH b B AL o DA B M o B g A 9 SO
e oy S R T AR A~ LK TREAT SR Er - AT
Tl B2 M A 8 TR R B2 2 IE U B > 3 Ay ik
ik 24 58 TR A (AR B A ) S ik M 4 4 A i o
U 56 A £ AT BOR B AC SR R SR 2 B
B o W e TIAR A F B 2 K

I A > 52K > AN PATESR B R
TREAMAREFMLI > AHEA R ZBEE
BB AR o 2 A — LB U SR A A W B T A
Be > FEA AR TR R W ARSI o R SR I 3
o= A R R T S W AT BB KL -
H AT 2 B8 2 SR~ M P R TR R — B
ARV Z SRR E N o 2% St B AR v R A
BLZEOZHMBREMEMFHEZ R GMH -



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

&

®ofs AR AN

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

o 28 B v A% 4T P e i

Mr. MAK Hon Kuen Peter, aged 32, was appointed an
Executive Director of the Company on 1 April 2008. Mr.
Mak has over 9 years’ experience in investment management.
Previously, he has held various positions with investment
banks and hedge fund, including Merrill Lynch, Credit Suisse,
DKR Oasis. He holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce, with
dean’s honour, from The University of British Columbia,
Canada. He is principally responsible for capital finance

matters of the Company.

Non-executive Director

Mr. SHEK Yu Ming Joseph, aged 64, is a Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Shek holds a Bachelor Degree
in Civil Engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He is
a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a Fellow
of the Institution of Civil Engineers, an Authorized Person
(Engineer) and a Registered Structural Engineer. He has over
20 years experience in the executive role in construction
companies and has completed a large number of contracts for
the Hong Kong Government and the private sector. Mr. Shek
is a member of the Appeal Tribunal (Buildings Ordinance
Chapter 123), a member of the Registered Contractors’
Disciplinary Board (2002-2008), a member of Review Panel
under the Land (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Amendment)
Ordinance, a member of the Planning Sub-Committee of the
Land and Building Advisory Committee of the Development
Bureau (2007-2009), a Council Member (1997-2008) and
Chairman of Environmental Committee (1995-2003) of the
Hong Kong Construction Association.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Professor KO Jan Ming, aged 66, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. He is the Vice President
and the Chair Professor of Structural Engineering of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Professor Ko holds a
Bachelor Degree in Civil Engineering and a Doctorate Degree
in Structural Engineering from the University of Hong Kong.
He is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the
Institution of Structural Engineers of United Kingdom and
the American Society of Civil Engineers. Professor Ko was
Chairman of the Accreditation Board (2001-2006) of The
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, and the Chairman of
Hong Kong Economic Cooperation (APEC) and Engineering
Mobility Forum (EMF) Monitoring Committees (2006-
2009). He is a Member of Construction Industry Council
(2007-2010), a Member of the Commission on Strategic
Development (2009-2012) and the Advisor of the Beijing-
Hong Kong Academic Exchange Centre. He was a Governing
Council Member of Construction Industry Institute (Hong
Kong) (2002-2008), a Council Member of The Hong Kong
Institution of Science (2002-2006), the President of The
Hong Kong Society of Theoretical and Applied Mechanics
(1999/2000), the President of The Hong Kong Association
for the Advancement of Science and Technology (2000/01)
and a Panel Member of the Appeal Tribunal in Buildings of
the HKSAR (1997-2004). Professor Ko is a Guest Professor
of the Southeast University, Beijing Polytechnic University,
Zhejiang University, Huaqiao University, Hohai University,
an Advisory Professor of the Beijing University of Aeronautics
& Astronautics, PRC and a Chair Professor, National
Chung Hsing University, Taiwan (2006-2009). He is a Co-
chair of the Scientific Committee of the Joint Research
Laboratory on Earth Observation (2005-2008), Co-chair of
the Scientific Steering Committee, State Key Laboratory
on Structural Dynamics in Bridge Engineering, Chongqing
Communications Research and Design Institute (2008-2012),
and a Member of the Scientific Steering Committee, State
Key Laboratory on Disaster Reduction in Civil Engineering,
Tongji University (2009-2013). Professor Ko is the Editor-in-
Chief of an International Journal — Advances in Structural
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Engineering (1997-2003), Editor-in-Chief (Asia-Pacific),
International Journal — Smart Structures and Systems, the
Senior Consultant of the Editorial Board of the Journal of
Spatial Structures, a member of the Editorial Boards of the
Journal of Engineering Mechanics, Journal of Earthquake and
Engineering Vibration and Journal of Hazards Prevention
and Mitigation Engineering. He was the President of Asian-
Pacific Network of Centres for Earthquake Engineering
(2005-2007), a Vice President (2004-2007) and Council
Member of the International Society for Structural Health
Monitoring of Intelligent Infrastructures, and a Management
Board Member of the Asian-Pacific Network of Centres for
Research in Smart Structures Technology. He was the Vice
President of the Board of Directors of Structural Engineers
World Congress 2002, the Chairman of the International
Conference on Advances in Building Technology (2002), the
Co-Chair of the International Conference on Advances and
New Challenges in Earthquake Engineering Research (2002),
and the Annual International Symposium on Smart Structures
and Materials (2003 to 2005). Professor Ko’s research interests
are Structural Dynamics, Vibration Monitoring & Control,

System Identification, and Damage Detection.

The Hon. IP Kwok Him, GBS, JP, aged 57, is an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company. The Hon. IP is a
member of the Legislative Council representing the District
Council functional constituency. He is presently a Deputy
to the 11th National People’s Congress of PRC for HKSAR,
Chairman of Panel on Home Affairs, Legislative Council,
a Advisor of the Democratic Alliance for Betterment and
Progress of Hong Kong, Member of Central & Western
District Council (Kwun Lung). He also serves on number of
committees and is now a member of the Standing Committee
on Disciplined Services Salaries and Conditions of Service,
the Hong Kong Housing Authority. Mr. Ip has been a member
of the Legislative Council between 1995-1997, a member of
the Provisional Legislative Council between 1997-1998, a
member of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR
Government representing the district council functional

constituency between 2000-2004 and an elected member of
the Central and Western District Council between 1992-2003.
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Mr. FUNG Pui Cheung Eugene, aged 60, is an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Fung is a
Certified Public Accountant, a fellow member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of
both The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England &
Wales and The Certified General Accountants’ Association
of Canada. He holds a Master of Arts Degree from Antioch
University of USA. Presently, Mr. Fung is a director of
NCN CPA Limited as well as practicing as a sole proprietor
in the name of P. C. Fung & Company, Certified Public
Accountants. Previously, he served in senior and managerial
positions in large local and international accounting firms.
In addition, Mr. Fung is currently an Honorary Associate
of Baptist University, School of Business, a Committee
member of The Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’
Association, a Standing Committee member of Democratic
Alliance for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong and
a Standing Committee member of the Jiangxi Provincial
Opverseas Liaison Association. Mr. Fung was also appointed a
member of the Financial Reporting Review Panel, under the
Financial Reporting Council and a member of the IRD Users

Committee.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. POON Yan Min, aged 47, is a Director of Excel
Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Poon holds a Bachelor
Degree in Civil Engineering from the University of Hong
Kong and a Master Degree in Engineering Management
from City University of Hong Kong. He is a corporate
member of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a
Registered Professional Engineer (Civil). He has over 23
years’ experience in the construction of road and drainage,
site formation, waterworks and building works including 10
years working in Mass Transit Railway Corporation for tunnel
and railway works. He is responsible for the Construction
Department on implementation of works and the overall
management of contracts. He is the Authorized Signatory for
general building contractor of the Buildings Department. Mr.
Poon is also the Engineer Supervisor of the HKIE Scheme A
Training for Graduate Engineers.
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Mr. YAM Kui Hung, aged 50, is a Director of Able
Engineering Company Limited, a major subsidiary of the
Company. He graduated with a Higher Certificate in Building
Studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic and a Postgraduate
Diploma in Construction Management from the Construction
Industry Training Authority. He is a corporate member of the
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, a Registered Professional
Engineer (Building) and has over 28 years’ experience in the
construction field. He is responsible for overall management

and operations of building projects.

Mr. HO Chi Ming Wilson, aged 47, is the Assistant General
Manager of Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Ho
holds a Bachelor Degree in Construction Management and
Economic from the Curtin University of Technology, a
National Diploma in Building Studies from the Business &
Technician Education Council and a Higher Certificate in
Building Studies and Proficiency Certificate in Industrial
Safety from the Hong Kong Polytechnic. He is a corporate
member of the Chartered Institute of Building, has registered
as an Authorized Signatory from the Buildings Department
and has over 26 years’ experience in the project management
in the construction field and a wide background of working
experience in residential, commercial and institutional
developments. He is responsible for providing full range of
building project management and contract administration

works of contracts.

Mr. NG Kai Chow, aged 41, is the Contract Manager of
Able Engineering Company Limited. Mr. Ng holds a Post-
graduated Diploma in Construction Law & Arbitration and
a Diploma in Construction (CEM) in the College of Estate
Management. He is an incorporate member of the Chartered
of Building, a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators
and Authorized Signatory from Buildings Department. He
also has about 24 years’ experience in construction field and
working in different positions in the construction industry.
He is responsible for providing full range of building project

management and contract administration works of contracts.
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Mr. KAN Kwok Kit, aged 46, is the Contract Manager
of Able Engineering Company Limited. He graduated
with Master Degree of Science in Engineering Business
Management and is a corporate member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers. Mr. Kan is also a fellow member and
Branch Committee of the Chartered Institute of Plumbing &
Heating Engineering, and a member of the Guangzhou Haizhu
District Standing Committee of The CPPCC National. He
has over 20 years’ experience in Construction Industry and
Building Services Engineering. He is responsible for tendering,
providing full range of building project management and
contract administration works of contracts. He is also the
Head of the Building Services Department that responsible
for all matters relating to Building Services/Electrical &

Mechanical provisions for all projects.

Ms. PANG Fung Ming, aged 39, is the company secretary
of the Company. Ms. Pang is a fellow member of both the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the U.K.
She has over 17 years’ accounting and related experience. She
holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. WONG Kei Leung, aged 58, is the Accounting Manager
of the Group and the Chief Accountant of Able Engineering
Company Limited. He has over 31 years’ accounting
experience. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Commercial
Science and Business Administration from Chu Hai College.
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The Group recognises the importance in maintaining high
standards of corporate governance and believes that good
corporate governance is fundamental to enhancing the
confidence of the investors and minimising our exposure to

risks.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2009.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board is composed of eight Directors, including four
Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and three

Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board has a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Group’s business. All Directors
have separate and independent access to the advice and
services of the senior management and the company secretary
with a view to ensuring that board procedures, and all

applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for
a fixed specific term. The Company confirmed that it
has received from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and they are
considered to be independent.

The types of decisions which are to be taken by the Board
include those relating to:

e the strategic plans and directions, and financial objectives
of the Group;

® monitoring the performance of the management;

e implementing and monitoring an effective framework of
internal controls and risk management;

e ensuring that the Company has good corporate
governance and is in compliance with applicable laws and

regulations.
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Responsibilities over day-to-day operations are delegated

to the management under the leadership of the Executive

Directors.

The Board meets regularly to review the overall strategy and

to monitor the operation as well as the financial performance

of the Group. For all of the Board

meetings, proper and

sufficient notices, adequate information including agenda

and accompanying board papers are supplied and sent to all

Directors in reasonable time.

Directors’ Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings for Year

2008/09

Directors

g

Executive Directors

Mr. Ngai Chun Hung
Mr. Yau Kwok Fai

Mr. Li Chi Pong

Mr. Mak Hon Kuen Peter

Non-executive Director
Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Professor Ko Jan Ming
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP

Mr. Fung Pui Cheung Eugene
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APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Company’s existing bye-laws, all directors
(including those appointed for a specific term, chairman and
managing director) are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at each annual general meeting at least once every
three years. In addition, directors appointed during the year
as an addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board are subject to retirement and election by shareholders at

the first general meeting following their appointment.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEQO)
of the Company are separately performed by Mr. Ngai Chun
Hung and Mr. Yau Kwok Fai respectively. Mr. Ngai Chun
Hung and Mr. Yau Kwok Fai are brothers-in-law.

This segregation ensures a clear division of the Chairman’s
responsibilities for the management of the Board and the
CEQO’s responsibilities for the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership for the
Board, and ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings and that Directors receive
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely
manner. The Chairman has an additional or casting vote in
the event of an equality of votes on any matter to be decided

by the Board.

The CEO is appointed by the Board and is responsible for
providing leadership for the management, implementing and
reporting to the Board on the Group’s strategy, overseeing the
day-to-day operations of the Group and providing all such
information to the Board as is necessary to enable the Board to
monitor the performance of the management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s Audit Committee was established on 8
September 2000 with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee’s

terms of reference are available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee is now made up of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Professor Ko Jan Ming,
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP, and Mr. Fung Pui Cheung,
Eugene. Professor Ko Jan Ming is currently the chairman
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene is
a certified public accountant and possesses the appropriate

accounting qualifications and experiences in financial matters.

The Audit Committee holds regular meetings at lease twice a
year to review the Company’s annual and interim reports and
accounts. The Audit Committee meets with the Company’s
external auditors at least once a year to review the Company’s

annual report and accounts.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Remuneration Committee was established
on 16 December 2005 with written terms of reference
and consists of a majority of Independent Non-executive
Directors. The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to
set policy on executive directors’ remuneration and for fixing
remuneration packages for all directors. The Remuneration
Committee’s terms of reference are available on the

Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee is now made up of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Professor Ko
Jan Ming, The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP, and Mr. Fung Pui
Cheung, Eugene, and one Executive Director, namely Mr. Yau
Kwok Fai. Professor Ko Jan Ming is currently the chairman of

the Remuneration Committee.
The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to

reviewed the remuneration of Executive Directors and make

recommendations to the Board.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding the Directors’ securities transactions. Following
specific enquiry made by the Company, the Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2009.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
Full details of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the

Company are set out in the Reports of the Directors on pages

44 to 46.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 March 2009, the remuneration paid to
the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young, is set out

below:

Audit services % B
Non-audit services: Fe% B
Taxation services 7 M 75

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective system of internal control to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets, and for

reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control system, including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training

programmes and budget, on a continuous and regular basis.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of
transparency in communication with shareholders and
investors in general. The various channels via which the
Company communicates with its shareholders include interim
and annual reports, information on the Stock Exchange’s and

the Company’s website, and general meetings.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s
general meetings where the Chairman and the Executive
Directors of the Board are available to answer questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on
each substantially separate issue, including the election of
individual directors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company’s bye-laws provide that shareholders holding
not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid-up capital
carrying voting rights have at all times the right to request
the Board to call a special general meeting to discuss specified
business transactions. The Board is required to call such
meeting within two months after the deposit of a written
notice by such shareholders.

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of
the shareholders at general meetings of the Company must
be taken by poll. The Chairman will therefore demand a poll
for every resolution put to the vote of general meetings of the
Company.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009,
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flows for that year.

The external auditors of the Company acknowledge their
reporting responsibilities in their auditors’ report on the
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 as set
out in the Report of the Auditors on pages 50 to 51.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
o Rk

The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holding and the provision of corporate management services.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 19 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2009 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 52 to 148.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend

for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and balance sheets of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from
the audited financial statements, is set out on page 5 of the
annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment,
and investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in notes 14 and 16 to the financial statements. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on

pages 13 to 16.

BANK LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31
March 2009 are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There was no movement in the Company’s authorised share
capital during the year. Movements in the Company’s issued
share capital of the Company and share options and the
reasons therefor are set out in notes 32 and 33 to the financial

statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to

existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in note 34(b) to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2009, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to
approximately HK$68,716,000. In addition, the Company’s
share premium account, in the amount of approximately
HK$168,454,000 at 31 March 2009, may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of

approximately HK$58,000 (2008: HK$117,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, contract revenue earned from the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 96% (2008:
93%) of the total contract revenue for the year and contract
revenue earned from the largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 77% (2008: 53%).

Subcontracting charges paid to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 38% (2008: 47%) of the
total subcontracting charges and material costs incurred for
the year. Subcontracting charges paid to the largest supplier

included therein accounted for approximately 13% (2008:
17%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five

largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung (Chairman)
Mr. Yau Kwok Fai
(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li Chi Pong
Mr. Mak Hon Kuen Peter (appointed on 1 April 2008)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph

Independent non-executive directors:
Professor Ko Jan Ming

The Hon Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP

Mr. Fung Pui Cheung Eugene

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Li Chi Pong
and Professor Ko Jan Ming will retire by rotation, and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming

annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The appointment of each of Professor Ko Jan Ming, The Hon.
Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP, and Mr. Fung Pui Cheung, Eugene,
as extended based on the respective agreement between them
and the Company, was for a term of two years which ended
on 31 August 2008 and was extended two further years to 31
August 2010.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received from each of Professor Ko Jan
Ming, The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP, and Mr. Fung Pui
Cheung Eugene an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), and the Company considers all of the

independent non-executive directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 26 to 32
of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors, except Mr. Li Chi Pong (“Mr.
Li”) and Mr. Mak Hon Kuen Peter (“Mr. Mak”), has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial period
of three years commencing from 1 September 2000 and such
contracts continue thereafter until terminated by either party

by giving a six-month written notice.

Mr. Li entered into a service contract with the Group that
commenced from 17 May 2004 and continue without a fixed
period until terminated by either party by giving a six-month

written notice.

Mr. Mak entered into a service contract with the Company
for an initial period of one year which commenced on 1 April
2008 and has been extended for another year to 31 March
2010.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (continued)
Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph entered into a continuous service
contract with the Company in respect of his service as a Non-

executive Director commencing from 1 January 2007.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The directors’ emoluments are set out in note 8 to the

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the

year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. Ngai Chun Hung (“Mr. Ngai”) is a director and substantial
shareholder of Winflower Investment Limited, Win Source
Investment Limited, Key Fame Limited and Key Fund Limited,
which are companies incorporated in Hong Kong and engaged
in property investment.

The power to make material business decisions for the Group
is vested in the Board. Whenever the Board considers that
there may be a conflict of interest between the Group and
any Director, such Director (including Mr. Ngai who is the
Chairman of the Board and a substantial shareholder of the
Company) will be required to abstain from voting. Therefore,
the Board is capable of carrying on the Group’s business
independently of, and at arm’s length, from the business of Mr.
Ngai.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
respective associates is interested in any business which are
considered to compete or are likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT o 0 I8 5 M B OB O v 2 BE 2R B R A

POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 March 2009, the interests and short positions of RIZFFNEZA=+—H » MBHHRBIHHK
the directors in the share capital of the Company or its Bl ([# R &M EHH]) E3526ZHEMGTEZ
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the A2 &4 25 B 50 i B st 8% » SOMREE boli A w) 3 =
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded — #EAT# I3 5 2 B~y A ([ R4~z A 1) img 6 50 &
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant ARAFXKFBH LS HAERAF (B Z
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the B » & F FPEA AN 7 S A B H (B %
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited — B8 HHIHE - HH 2 &%) Z AP ZRs K&
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for REWT :

Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”), were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company: AR AL A HBRZIH -

Capital and

nature of

Name of director Notes interest
WA Wt 55 Oy B B 4 PR H
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung (a) As founder and
B A S5 A beneficiary of a
discretionary trust

A2 — 1 £ w6

LR EE YN

Personal

[iUN

Mr. Yau Kwok Fai (b) Though a controlled
i 120 R S A= corporation
T2 0 52 4 ) 0 R A

Mr. Li Chi Pong Personal
IR i A
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him Personal
B [ il ik 2 iUN
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung Eugene Personal
UGk i A
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Percentage of

Number of the Company’s
ordinary issued share capital
shares held AR A A AT
P 3% I O H JBe AR A e
838,760,400 56.39%
5,406,000 0.36%
844,166,400 56.75%
30,888,000 2.08%
7,347,200 0.49%
844,800 0.06%
364,800 0.02%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES (continued)
Notes:

(a) These shares are legally and beneficially owned by Winhale Ltd.
(“Winhale”), which is a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and is ultimately beneficially owned by
Xyston Trust. Xyston Trust is a discretionary family trust set up by Mr.
Ngai for the benefits of Mr. Ngai and his family members.

(b) These shares are legally and beneficially owned by Business Success
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is legally and
beneficially owned by Mr. Yau.

<&
ol oB OB H R A A U

230 I8 Ay B A W B B v 2 A B R AT
(#1)

(a)  ZERA HWinhale Led. ([ Winhale]) i@ R E 5
BEAT > W% E] Y07 5 6 A T R S RE M oL 2 A
FRZA 7] » 3 Xyston Trusthe KX E A © Xyston
Trust/I MBS AR L 2 —TH ARG RE » %4k
ANBHEARANRRRIREE -

(b) %% B4y HiBusiness Success Limited ¥ & & B 35 ¥
H oo AT Z B TBAT AR TS Bl e A B K
HaS R -

Share options of the Company: A2 w] JE IR
At At Exercise Exercise
Date of grant 31 March During the year 31 March period price
(dfmly) 2008 RAER 2009 (dfmly) (HK$)
Director BTHE RZZFZNE Granted Exercised H=FZJL4E igidl iR d |
g (H/AME)  ZRA=+—H By fif Z=A=1+—H (H/A/%) (#7T)
Ngai Chun Hung 31/08/2007 844,800 - - 844,800  03/09/2007 - 0.40
B Hie Ak 02/09/2012
Yau Kwok Fai 31/08/2007 8,448,000 - - 8,448,000  03/09/2007 - 0.40
3 19 02/09/2012
Shek Yu Ming Joseph 31/08/2007 8,448,000 - - 8,448,000 03/09/2007 - 0.40
AT ] 02/09/2012
Li Chi Pong 31/08/2007 8,448,000 - - 8,448,000  03/09/2007 - 0.40
EPE 02/09/2012
Ko Jan Ming 31/08/2007 844,800 - - 844,800  03/09/2007 - 0.40
5L 02/09/2012
Mak Hon Kuen Peter 02/06/2008 - 7,500,000 - 7,500,000 02/12/2008 - 0.79
KB 01/12/2013

In addition to the above, certain directors have non-
beneficial personal equity interests in certain subsidiaries
held for the benefit of the Company solely for the purpose of
complying with the previous minimum company membership
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
Certain directors also have beneficial interests in non-voting
deferred shares in a subsidiary which practically carry no rights
to dividends or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any
general meeting or to participate in any distribution on the
winding-up of the subsidiary.

B ESCRR kB Ah > AT HFREAAFAFFHET
Pl Ja 2 ) 2 O i N By BB > L SR AR 2
A U O R A B A R R Z SR
RUE o 5 T 3 B 75 B F e 2 7] 2 648 5 R A
JBetr < B A RE AR > W% S B0 B M b S A T S
CUCICGRINE N F R R S SN Y
WK b 5 e A W e 2 7 AR 2 ST 4y
Ik °
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of the
directors had registered an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ interests in
contract” and “Directors’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” above, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 5
August 2002, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (“2002 Option
Scheme”) and the termination of the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 17 August 2000.

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company are

disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.
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OUTSTANDING SHARE OPTIONS WG AR AT B 1 i I it
Details of options outstanding at 31 March 2009 to subscribe RZRFNFE=ZH=Z1—H » R AMH
for shares of the Company granted pursuant to the 2002  BEREF] &4 T it vl 5 B A 23 5] B4y 0 1 AR 47 1 i

Option Scheme are set out below: JBRE FE I BB
At At Exercise Exercise
Date of grant 31 March During the year 31 March period price
(dfmly) 2008 TRAE M 2009 (dfmfy)  (HK$)
Grantees BYHE ROFFENE Granted Exercised Lapsed B-ZFNAE P A piE
REA (H/A/E) ZRAZ+—H #®y ixid %% ZHA=Z1-—H (H/A/E) ()
Directors # 3¢
Ngai Chun Hung 31/08/07 844,800 - - - 844,800 03/09/07 - 0.400
W f e 02/09/12
Yau Kwok Fai 31/08/07 8,448,000 - - - 8,448,000 03/09/07 - 0.400
i I 02/09/12
Shek Yu Ming Joseph 31/08/07 8,448,000 - - - 8,448,000 03/09/07 - 0.400
£ B 02/09/12
Li Chi Pong 31/08/07 8,448,000 - - - 8,448,000 03/09/07 - 0.400
FinH 02/09/12
Ko Jan Ming 31/08/07 844,800 - - - 844,800 03/09/07 - 0.400
3L 02/09/12
Mak Hon Kuen Peter 02/06/08 - 7,500,000 - - 7,500,000 02/12/08 - 0.790
% i 01/12/13
Employees f& H
In aggregate A AT 31/08/07 1,998,000 - (1,998,000) - - 03/09/07 - 0.400
02/09/12
Employees f H
In aggregate At 07/12/06 540,000 - - - 540,000 07/06/07-  0.165
06/06/12

Further details of the Company’s outstanding share options are 7 B AS A & i A7 4 i Al 2 3 — 2 500 > U
given in note 33 to the financial statements. o B R R B 33 o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2009, according to the register of interests
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, and so
far as was known to the directors or chief executives of the
Company, the following persons, other than directors or chief
executives of the Company, had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares which would require to be
disclosed by the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meeting of the Company.

Long positions:

LA ¢

Capacity and

B 3 B S A A i B B B A B B £y
W2t B R

REFZFME=ZH=+—H > MIRGESR L&
W) 5533640k Z B AE A 2 W] Z6 A 47 1 HE 2 8 i
T C Bk > LA A AT o 2 R0 AT BN BB
B> BRARAF R B AT BN B DL > TS
N B T A7 B R J A A R 2 8 3R AT T ZEUAR B¢
(i 2 T 91 £ R 1)) S X VP 58 2 B SR 343 ¥ 1h) AR 2
F B S B A T 5 %0k WA B H AT
iy S0 Je A (BAE A 7 — DI DU T AR AR 2 5] B J R
K EREZHRER)

Number
of ordinary

shares held

Percentage of
the Company’s

issued share capital

Name of shareholder Notes nature of interest P A 3% B A2 |l BB AT

e RE S S M &t B By B b 2% Pk B B4y ¥ H WAy e

Winhale Limited (“Winhale”) (a) Beneficial owner 838,760,400 56.39%
HamHA A

Braveway Limited (b) As a trustee 838,760,400 56.39%
TERETEAN

HSBC International Trustee Limited (c) As a trustee 838,760,400 56.39%
ERETEAN

Dragon Gate Development Limited (d) Beneficial owner 166,742,000 11.21%
HamBEA A

Chiu Koon Ming Andy (d) Through a controlled 166,742,000 11.21%
i 52 corporation
759 52 YE 1 %
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)
Notes:

(a) The above interest in the name of Winhale was also disclosed as interest
of Mr. Ngai under the heading “Directors’ interests and short positions
in shares and underlying shares” above. In addition, these shares are
ultimately beneficially owned by Xyston Trust.

(b)  Winhale is wholly-owned by the Braveway Unit Trust. Braveway
Limited being the trustee of the Braveway Unit Trust is deemed to be
interested in the shares in the Company held by Winhale.

(c) HSBC International Trustee Limited being the trustee of Xyston Trust
is deemed to be interested in the shares in the Company held by Xyston
Trust.

(d)  100% interests in Dragon Gate Development Limited are controlled by
Mr. Chiu Koon Ming Andy.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, no person, other
than the directors of the Company, whose interests are set out
in the section headed “Directors’ interests and short positions
in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to

Section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst &
Young, who retires and, being eligible, offers themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Ngai Chun Hung
Chairman

Hong Kong
15 July 2009
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
wmohsERARAA

2

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

¥ i A% S b

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= K

To the shareholders of

Vantage International (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Vantage
International (Holdings) Limited set out on pages 52 to 148,
which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets
as at 31 March 2009, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

¥ i A% S b

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the

financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at 31 March 2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor, Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

15 July 2009
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o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BB R A

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

oWtk
Year ended 31 March 2009 # % - FEENFE=H="F—HILFEEZE
2009 2008
ZERIE ZERRNE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it T# Fi#T
REVENUE WA 5 2,152,685 2,078,258
Contract costs B KA (2,024,350) (1,940,307)
Property expenses LES 3 (1,561) (1,283)
Gross profit E=y il 126,774 136,668
Other income and gains At e A T2 W 2 5 16,387 40,609
Administrative expenses BB 2 (53,250) (50,063)
Other expenses H Ao BH 37 (160,405) (548)
Finance costs - il 7 (18,808) (33,160)
Share of profits and losses of JRE Ay 3 [ ¢ ) BL B9 i A
jointly-controlled entities I 18 20 106 -
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX B BE G B A, O 1) 6 (89,196) 93,506
Tax BiIH 10 9,947 (17,408)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ERERM OB R) (79,249) 76,098
Attributable to: FEAL w A, (1)
Equity holders of the parent BAFRERFEAN 11 (79,249) 76,098
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE B A R R A A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY HEAY 45 e A, Ol )
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT 13
(HK cents) (¥Ah)
Basic Fe A (5.3) 6.5
Diluted 7 N/AA % H 6.4
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED "'

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

O E AR

31 March 2009

(R EAEZ A=A

AR ARAA

2009 2008
e 2 9% 2 ZRER)\E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt T # T T¥#7x
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ui By ¥
Property, plant and equipment LU B Y ] 14 17,136 17,965
Properties held for development FAERRZYE 15 127,000 115,500
Investment properties [ <g/ES 16 471,892 613,104
Prepaid land lease payments TEAT 1 AL B A sk 17 111,970 114,985
Interests in jointly-controlled entities T 36 1] 458 o A4 HE 25 20 106 -
Total non-current assets Ik B A A 728,104 861,554
CURRENT ASSETS i B e
Gross amount due from customers FEW R P Z & 8 TR
for contract work B 21 142,190 267,744
Properties under development BRI 22 30,338 21,299
Property held for sale FEEREZWE 23 40,833 44,833
Accounts receivable JHE WA B R 24 208,133 239,817
Prepayments, deposits and other TN R ~ e K
receivables At JE Wk 25 46,881 36,892
Amounts due from jointly-controlled R Wi 3 T 4 ) A k0
entities 20 90 1,830
Derivative financial instruments MAem TR 28 - 920
Tax recoverable A W ] A5 I 629 3
Pledged deposits BRI 26 5,512 6,035
Cash and cash equivalents B4 kB AESEY 26 206,591 83,802
Total current assets B E A 681,197 703,175
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o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BB R A

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

=&
BB REAafR
31 March 2009 RZFEFEAF=H=1—H
2009 2008
ZERIE ZERRNE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it T# Fi#T
CURRENT LIABILITIES o B £
Accounts payable JE A e ik 27 238,486 251,398
Gross amount due to customers M %P Z a8 TR
for contract work k] 21 140,657 69,335
Tax payable JE A B T 4,374 12,422
Other payables and accruals HoAb FEAT 3 R R 29 13,476 10,726
Interest-bearing bank loans A B SR AT K 30 201,667 188,586
Total current liabilities B A AR 598,660 532,467
NET CURRENT ASSETS R B 0 A VR 82,537 170,708
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT Vi A A S UR ) 4
LIABILITIES 810,641 1,032,262
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ik Gt B £1 £
Interest-bearing bank loans B RAT 30 381,483 503,976
Deferred tax liabilities BIERLIE A A 31 11,093 33,769
Total non-current liabilities I B A A 392,576 537,745
Net assets BT 418,065 494,517
EQUITY B 2
Equity attributable to equity holders B A A R FS A
of the parent M 45 B 22
Issued capital BB AT A 32 37,182 37,132
Reserves it f 34(a) 380,883 457,385
Total equity AR 2 418,065 494,517

Ngai Chun Hung

Director
B %
HH
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AR ARAA

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

&

AR EER
Year ended 31 March 2009 #E - FFNF=H="1—HILFE
Share Share
Issued  premium Contributed  Goodwill option  Retained
capital account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
[ #0) BB B W Vi e i3
JBe A i UK bk Gt i A At
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
F#T FiET FibT FiT T TH#L T
At 1 April 2007 REZZFLENA—H 23,519 75,391 11,421 (5,035) 185 203,09 308577
Issue of shares (note 32) BT (W E32) 13,013 92,572 - - - - 106,185
Share issue expenses (note 32) #4710 & A (f7£32) = (1,069) - - - - (1,069)
Transfer upon exercise of TR T 1 0 A
share options (note 32) (Hits2) = 510 - - (510) - -
Profit for the year ARAE T A - - - - - 76,098 76,098
Equity-settled share option DARERS 25 5 09 I ot R 2 4
arrangements (note 33) (WiE33) - - - - 4,716 - 4,726
At 31 March 2008 and RZZRNEZA=Z4—H
at 1 April 2008 RR_ZFNENA—H 37,132 167,404 11,421% (5,035)%  4401% 279,194 494,517
Issue of shares (note 32) BT (Hit52) 50 749 - - - - 799
Transfer upon exercise of VAL I 17 0 4
share options (note 32) (Hit32) - 301 - - (301) - -
Loss for the year REEER - - - - - (79,249)  (79,249)
Equity-settled share option DLHE 35 45 700 1 Mo 22
arrangements (note 33) (Hit33) - - - - 1,998 - 1,998
At 31 March 2009 REZZEFREZA=F—H 37,182 168,454% 11,421* (5,035)* 6,098* 199,945* 418,065
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * HWEMREEHEEB ARG ERAEETZEAR

HK$380,883,000 (2008: HK$457,385,000) in the consolidated balance

sheet.

#§380,883,000% J& (= F % )\ 4 : 457,385,000

JC) °
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"I VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BB R A

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

RAEBERER

Year ended 31 March 2009 #FE -~ EENF=H="1—HILFEEF

2009 2008
“ERAAE ZRR)NE
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Kt ik F#x F#x
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RERHZBAEHE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BEBini e Al () (89,196) 93,506
Adjustments for: BET BUIE H A i
Finance costs -4l 7 18,808 33,160
Share of profits and losses of JRE A 3 [ $5¢ o] 8 ¥ )
jointly-controlled entities K 1R 20 (106) -
Interest income DSRON 5 (9,810) (21,064)
Depreciation e 6 3,875 3,687
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEAY - Ho A & A 3k
payments B B 6 3,015 1,405
Impairment of properties held for RAEEERZ
development LIE SN 6 34,920 924
Write-down of property held for sale REENEBEZYE
to net realisable value ok A6 2 VT 4% B A 6 4,000 -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEY % - B Mk
property, plant and equipment HHZ (W) i 177 (20)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYEN KL
properties 5 (268) -
Changes in fair value of investment BEYEATVH
properties, net SEE) > A 121,476 (14,839)
Changes in fair value of derivative Al T H A PEES)
financial instruments 920 (240)
Equity-settled share option expense DR 25 25 S 0% % % WE 2 33 1,998 4,726
89,809 101,245
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due JRE W e ) e A
from jointly-controlled entities B E (W) WA 1,740 (1,710)
(Increase)/decrease in gross amount due  MEUWE F 2 A4 TR
from customers for contract work faE (W) A 125,554 (110,353)
Increase in properties under B b S
development (8,806) (4,278)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts W sk (B ) A
receivable 31,684 (47,058)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, FEAT K IE ~ %4 S oAl
deposits and other receivables JE Wk (34 m) A (9,989) 32,718
Decrease in accounts payable A B 31 0 A (12,912) (10,972)
Increase in gross amount due to M %P Z &8 TR
customers for contract work 48 % 18 n 71,322 25,202
Increase in other payables and accruals At A 35k B FELAR 2 T B 2,750 189
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ‘
ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ&ﬁﬂ&‘

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
B BL AU B R

Year ended 31 March 2009 #tE ~EFENEZH="1—HILFF

2009 2008
“ERAAE ZRR)NE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kt ik F#x F#x

Cash generated from/(used in) KA, (AR &E

operations Z B4 291,152 (15,017)
Interest received c A B 9,810 21,064
Interest paid SRR PES (19,041) (33,160)
Hong Kong profits tax paid [BRRERE iRy i) (21,403) (5,103)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REEBZB 4

operating activities WA GRE) B 260,518 (32,216)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BEXHZBERHE

ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant T E W - AR HEAE

and equipment 14 (3,628) (3,138)
Additions to investment properties B W 16 (1,764) (455)
Increase in properties held for Pl R R Z i 2 1

development (46,420) (838)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEwE - B RS HEE

property, plant and equipment Z A%k 405 20
Proceeds from disposal of investment B 1 3 2 P A R I

properties 21,768 113,000
Decrease in pledged time deposits HEAH € 117 ki A 1,627 1,381
Acquisitions W ik 35 - (64,585)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BEEEZBE

investing activities WA G FH (28,012) 45,385
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0 VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BB R A

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HEABlewEg
Year ended 31 March 2009 # £ - FENFE=H="——HIFFE
2009 2008
“ERAAE ZRR)NE
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
W T Tt
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING R Bl e
ACTIVITIES
Issue of shares BT A 32 - 42,390
Proceeds from exercise of share options ek Je MR R AT 08 1 T A5k I 32 799 1,675
New bank loans BB SR AT R K 286,144 712,510
Repayment of bank loans 1R SR AT Bk (395,467) (718,231)
Capital element of finance lease AR SR AT RZ
rental payments HAE Ay - (29)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from MEEKRZBE
financing activities WA () FH (108,524) 38,315
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BRERBEFHY
CASH EQUIVALENTS B4 Jm ¥ 123,982 51,484
Cash and cash equivalents at ERZ B & KRB &S
beginning of year 81,303 29,819
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HERZBERBEFMHY
AT END OF YEAR 205,285 81,303
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF BERBEFHEDHBZ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS g
Cash and bank balances Bl 4 T SRAT 45 R 26 114,136 60,351
Non-pledged time deposits with FEAEBHHAR=ZMAZ
original maturity of less than G AT E W K
three months when acquired 26 92,455 23,451
Time deposits with original maturity ORI 2 SR AT 78 B R
of less than three months when FHAZEHH AR =M A
acquired, pledged as security Z MR
against bank overdraft facilities 26 2,176 1,072
Bank overdrafts SRAITIE 30 (3,482) (3,571)
205,285 81,303
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BALANCE SHEET

¥ f R

31 March 2009

(R EAEZ A=A

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED "'

oA oEBAE R AN

2009 2008
ZERIE ZEER)UE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt it T #C F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS e By
Interests in subsidiaries T B e A R Z RE g 19 279,689 277,543
CURRENT ASSETS Ui B
Tax recoverable ] W ] A 28 545 -
Cash and cash equivalents B4 R B& S HY 26 426 410
Total current assets B R 971 410
CURRENT LIABILITIES Ui B 8 A
Other payables JE Atk JE £ 3% 29 210 213
Tax payable JRE A B I - 658
Total current liabilities i B B A8 4R 210 871
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ W
(LIABILITIES) (£ i 550 761 (461)
Net assets % 280,450 277,082
EQUITY HE 2%
Issued capital AT AR 32 37,182 37,132
Reserves ik f 34(b) 243,268 239,950
Total equity W HE 2% 280,450 277,082

Ngai Chun Hung
Director
B 0%
#HF

Yau Kwok Fai
Director
i 1 o
#F
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
wmohsERARAA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2009
1.

ZEFNF=ZH=1—H

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Vantage International (Holdings) Limited is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.
The principal place of business of the Company is 155
Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following

principal activities:

e a wide range of construction, civil engineering,
renovation and other contract works in public and
private sectors in Hong Kong

e property investment

e property development

The Company is a public company with its shares listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the directors, the parent and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Winhale
Ltd. (“Winhale”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties and derivative financial
instruments, which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest

thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ’
ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ@&d&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W5 R Bk
31 March 2009 ZZFFAFE=ZH=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 HRIL W (4)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2009. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All
income, expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting
from intercompany transactions and balances within the

Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

The Group has adopted the following new interpretations
and amendments to HKFRSs for the first time for the

current year’s financial statements.

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to HKAS 39

Amendments Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Reclassification
of Financial Assets

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12

Service Concession Arrangements
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 HKAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding

Requirements and their Interaction

The adoption of these new interpretations and
amendments has had no significant financial effect
on these financial statements and there have been no
significant changes to the accounting policies applied in

these financial statements.

AR

o TR 5 A A A A ) R L T A ) (A
WMuIARLEE])REZZMME=EA=4—
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’ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRS:s, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27

Amendments

HKERS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKERS 3 (Revised)

HKEFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 8

HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1

Amendments

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
and HKAS 39
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
HK(IFRIC)-Int 15
HK(IFRIC)-Int 16
HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of HKFRSs and HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements — Cost of an Investment in
a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity
or Associate !

First-time Adoption of HKFRSs 2

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment — Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations '

Business Combinations *

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Improving
Disclosures about Financial Instruments '

Operating Segments !

Presentation of Financial Statements'

Borrowing Costs !

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements *

Amendments to HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and
HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising
on Liquidation '

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement — Eligible Hedged Items *

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement —
Embedded Derivatives ¢

Customer Loyalty Programmes °

Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate '

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation *

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Transfers of Assets from Customers °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET 2.3 U A H 0 R A A0 7 VS B

EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (continued)

Apart from the above, in October 2008, the HKICPA
issued Improvements to HKFRSs* which sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.
Except for the amendment to HKFRS 5 which is effective
for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009, other amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 although there are
separate transitional provisions for each standard.

In addition, improvements to HKFRSs were issued in
May 2009 by the HKICPA which contains amendments
to HKFRS 2, HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7,
HKAS 17, Appendices to HKAS 18, HKAS 36, HKAS
38, HKAS 39, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and HK(IFRIC)-Int
16. Except for the amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS
38, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 which are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009 and no transitional provisions for the amendment
to Appendix to HKAS 18 has been specified, other
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010 although there are separate
transitional provisions for each standard.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008

Effective for transfers of assets from customers received on or after
1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009

* Improvements to HKFRSs contains amendments to HKFRS 5,
HKEFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS 8, HKAS 10, HKAS 16, HKAS 18,
HKAS 19, HKAS 20, HKAS 23, HKAS 27, HKAS 28, HKAS 29,
HKAS 31, HKAS 34, HKAS 36, HKAS 38, HKAS 39, HKAS 40
and HKAS 41.
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31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET 2.3 U i AH 0 R A A0 7 Vs B

EFFECTIVE HKFRSs (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application. So far, it has concluded that while
the adoption of HKFRS 8 and HKAS 1 (Revised) may
result in new or amended disclosures and the adoption of
HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) may result
in changes in accounting policies, these new and revised
HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on the

Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 3 23k 8o g 2

POLICIES
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as

to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are

stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture
operates as a separate entity in which the Group and the

other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations
and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the

joint venture agreement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Joint ventures (continued)

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control,

directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not
have unilateral control, but has joint control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral
or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly,
generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and is in a position to exercise

significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or
indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control of,
nor is in a position to exercise significant influence

over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that
is subject to joint control, resulting in none of the
participating parties having unilateral control over the

economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entities are
stated in the consolidated balance sheet at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,

less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
reserves of jointly-controlled entities is included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves,

respectively.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Jointly-controlled entities (continued)

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in
the jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date

of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or
after 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the
consolidated balance sheet as an asset, initially measured
at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated

impairment losses.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the

Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or
after 1 January 2005 (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates.
Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in

a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated
with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or
loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in
this circumstance is measured based on the relative values
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Goodwill previously eliminated against consolidated reserves

Prior to the adoption of the HKICPA’s Statement
of Standard Accounting Practice 30 “Business
Combinations” in 2001, goodwill arising on acquisition
was eliminated against consolidated reserves in the year of
acquisition. On the adoption of HKFRS 3, such goodwill
remains eliminated against the consolidated reserves
and is not recognised in the income statement when all
or part of the business to which the goodwill relates is
disposed of or when a cash-generating unit to which the

goodwill relates becomes impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than properties under development, property held for sale,
construction contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in
the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only
if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

(b)

(c)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Group; (ii) has
an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control
over the Group;

the party is an associate;
the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any

individual referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d)

or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the income statement in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be
clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected
to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant
and equipment, and where the cost of the item can be
measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an

additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful

life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as

follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the
remaining term of the land
lease and 40 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease term and 20%

Machinery and equipment 20% to 24%

Furniture, fixtures and

office equipment 20% to 24%

Motor vehicles 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each

part is depreciated separately.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2009 ZFFENEZH=1—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each

balance sheet date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount

of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet
date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the income

statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the income

statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Properties held for development

Properties held for development are stated at cost less
impairment losses. These properties are reclassified as
properties under development when they are substantially

ready for development.

Properties under development

Properties under development for re-sale are included
under current assets and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises acquisition costs,
construction costs, interest and other direct attributable
costs. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the estimated selling price less estimated total cost of the
development and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale of the property.

Property held for sale

Property held for sale is stated in the balance sheet at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs necessary to

make the sale.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of
a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included
in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs
of such leases are charged to the income statement so
as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the

lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the
operating leases are charged to the income statement on

the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance

lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and
loans and receivables, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction

costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an
embedded derivative when the Group first becomes a
party to it and assesses whether an embedded derivative
is required to be separated from the host contract when
the analysis shows that the economic characteristics and
risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related
to those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs
if there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required under the contract.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance
sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains
and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as
well as through the amortisation process.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments or financial guarantee contracts. Gains
or losses on these financial assets are recognised in
the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the income statement does not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in
organised financial markets is determined by reference to
quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the
balance sheet date. For investments where there is no
active market, fair value is determined using valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s
length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially
the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option
pricing models.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a

group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance
account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised
in the income statement. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when there
is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral

has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying
value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the

reversal date.

In relation to accounts and other receivables, a provision
for impairment is made when there is objective evidence
(such as the probability of insolvency or significant
financial difficulties of the debtor and significant
changes in the technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor)
that the Group will not be able to collect all of the
amounts due under the original terms of an invoice. The
carrying amount of the receivables is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are

derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial

assets) is derecognised where:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired;

e the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay
them in full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2009 ZFFENEZH=1—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in
the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of
a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could

be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a
written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled
option or similar provision) on the transferred asset,
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is
the amount of the transferred asset that the Group may
repurchase, except in the case of a written put option
(including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on
an asset measured at fair value, where the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower
of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option

exercise price.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including
interest-bearing bank loans)

Financial liabilities including accounts payable, other
payables and interest-bearing bank loans are initially
stated at fair value less directly attributable transaction
costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. The related interest expense is recognised

within “Finance costs” in the income statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through

the amortisation process.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS
39 are accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee
contract, except when such contract is recognised at
fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the balance sheet date; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18

Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation

under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective

carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such
as interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with
interest rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as

liabilities when the fair value is negative.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FE &l SR me (&)

POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
(continued)

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on
derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are

taken directly to the income statement.

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by

reference to market values of similar instruments.

Construction, renovation and other contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and the appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims
and incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed

construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is
recognised on the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of certified value

of work performed to the contract sum for each contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from customers for

contract work.

Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is treated as an amount due to customers for

contract work.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEE&ulBooR mE ()

POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part

of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,

including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax is recognised in the income statement, or in equity
if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a

different period directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying

amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

e where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill
or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and interests in
joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,

except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be

utilised.

<&
B B W A OB A A ‘I‘

2.4 LEEGHBORBER (5)

i 4L (40
P A MB35 5 6 27 A
15 e

ik 5 90 S A L 4 A P R A O
T S5 5 F 19 32 5 vh o 2 e
SR AR > BRAER B Bt
) R R ) s 1R 0 S 5
J& Bl 4b 5 e

S P B B A ) D A SR R 2
1 M SRR T R 2 B o i
W IR 2 B R ) T DA A o DA R IR
M 2 S BL AT REAE W] SR SR > g
B4 -

Fi A AT BEBS b 1 Tk T IR 2 B~ TR
JRRSE S 11 B oA A0 5 J 4L 3% 6 Tl i Ay R A
BUIE A > (H DL H 124 T RE th B0 MR AL A
FR AR A0 5% 55 R I 2 B S R AR
Tt JECHE 11 B oA 58 265 O 18 A < A2 R > M

ik 7 IR T 0 R e 22 B 20 S O
R A AE — R JE SR AR 5
FR R 2 e A SRR A AR > T HLAE
A2 Gy WRE o 36w R TR o ME SRR TR e
Ry L E > WS 5 R

S U B WA A T e A A SR AR 2 R
B TR R 2 RO R Y
tRf k22 BA AT EAE AT S AR I > i L
H &4 7] B th BURERRABLAI R > wT F LA
UG S0 e 2 BN o Ty e A A A
JHE E

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 &£E#®%&



‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
&‘mﬁﬁ&ﬁMﬁﬁ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEE&ulBooR mE ()

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the

deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation

authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match
the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is

intended to compensate.

é ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 FEHR%E

i 73 Bt (A1)

0% S0 58 < R T I %R A 8
Arhgt > i A FECI I AS B B H = E R A
it R DA B P 0 S A R A R A I
SO G AL B i L © MR - T R R
AR B AL I T A A M A L EDRTREAY > 3
AE T Hh B T 2 B SR A i ) DA 5Bl 2 S A
JE 7 2 2 Vi R A B A R

9 B AL I B R AR B I R 2 A
ROEBH)) K AEHH EETZ B RS
FEE > 4 PO A AR R 10 BB B R Y )
i Z B ARG

U A A AT BT AR R 5 YT O
S 9 Bl S £ A ELMT K o T 2 A G
TP — W R B R[] — B B A A > I A
I A B A SiE 5 I 4 A o LA R o

B B

i A BILOR 8 AT AT BOR Wi B > 36 T AF A B
A BRI > S A B B L A P
TR BOR #li By o A A B Al 8Y 75 BL B SO H A
B o U0 B 4 WIS IE A st 0 Rl B Z B > #%
A 7 i 2 Bt A T BRURE B2 A R 4 B < 380 T
e R A A e



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the

revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from construction, renovation and other contracts,
based on the percentage of completion basis, as
further explained in the accounting policy for
“Construction, renovation and other contracts”

above;

(b) from work orders of contracts for alterations,
additions, repairs and maintenance, based on the
value of individual work orders certified by relevant
employers;

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the

lease terms;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument to the

net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payment transactions, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

<&
ol oB OB R A A U

2.4 LEEGHBORBER (5)

WA e 2
WO T3 T A SR T R A T R A AR ) 2 A
IR WA\ B 400 T S B IR 4 T ) A e

(a)

B BRI TRRAA  HETH
i b B e AR o A7 B RE R OR B ol
o~ BB S A TR S0 | 2 R BOR s

R~ g s MEE KR EZ TR A
> HARA BRAR TR AR B AR AT B
{6 AHE 3

R WO > $5H T390 DI ] B it 55 5

AR » 5 P A DR R R 3t
B> )R 2 A 4 T T L o TR A A T
Al 5 R B S A DT B 2 4 il SR
T FHE 5 &

JBe MO > A JBe SEMACR e S5, 2 A il
IR Tl BB AR o

B E A

LUt 75 B 8 19 £ ik K 57

A T AW SRR o L H AR R i A AR
5 0 1 o v AR RN B R 2 B SR
T U0 R e o AR O B (LR 35D
JBe Aoy s B H) A5 R 52 5 T SO H Y > i B
R B8 I 85 AT 2 WO ORRE 2 1 T R AR (T RA
BERGHMRES]) -

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £E##& @



‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
&‘mﬁﬁ&ﬁm&ﬂ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 5 % e WY ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEE&ulBooR mE ()

POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using the Black-Scholes model, further
details of which are given in note 33 to the financial
statements. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no
account is taken of any performance conditions, other
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company (“market conditions”), if applicable. The cost
of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant
employees become fully entitled to the award (the
“vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at each balance sheet date
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for
a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and the end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated
as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance

conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had
not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification, which increases the total fair value
of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of

modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEE&ulBooR mE ()

POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of

the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings

per share.

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees
under their employment contracts on a calendar year
basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which
remains untaken as at the balance sheet date is permitted
to be carried forward and utilised by the respective
employees in the following year. An accrual is made at
the balance sheet date for the expected future cost of such
paid leave earned during the year by the employees and

carried forward.

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEE&ulBooR mE ()

POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Pension schemes (continued)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance
(“ORSQ”) retirement benefits scheme for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the ORSO
scheme. This scheme operates in a way similar to the
MPF Scheme, except that when an employee leaves the
scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employee
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group are reduced by the relevant amount
of forfeited employer’s contributions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within the
equity section of the balance sheet, until they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When
these dividends have been approved by the shareholders
and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s bye-laws grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised

immediately as a liability when they are proposed and

declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FEE&ulBooR mE ()

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions are initially recorded using the
functional currency rates ruling at the date of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet
date. All differences are taken to the income statement.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the

date when the fair value was determined.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However,
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or

liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

financial statements:
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)

Properties held for development

The Group has leased out certain properties on a short
term basis even if it is the Group’s intention to redevelop
these properties at some stage for higher value and/or
higher returns. Accordingly, these properties are stated as
properties held for development in the balance sheet. At
31 March 2009, these properties had an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$127,000,000 (2008: HK$115,500,000).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance
sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed

below.

Construction, renovation and other contracts

As explained in note 2.4 to the financial statements,
revenue and profit recognition on an incomplete project
is dependent on the estimation of the total outcome
of the construction contract, as well as the work done
to date. Based on the Group’s recent experience and
the nature of the construction activities undertaken
by the Group, the Group makes estimates of the point
at which it considers the work is sufficiently advanced
such that the costs to complete and the revenue can be
reliably estimated. As a result, until this point is reached,
the amounts due from customers for contract work as
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements will not
include profit which the Group may eventually realise
from the work done to date. In addition, actual outcomes
in terms of total cost or revenue may be higher or lower
than estimated at the balance sheet date, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as

an adjustment to the estimated amounts recorded to date.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

31 March 2009
3.

ZEFNF=ZH=1—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment test of assets

The Group determines whether an asset is impaired
at least on an annual basis or where an indication of
impairment exists. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the asset. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the assets and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present

value of those cash flows.

Fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements,
investment properties are revalued at the balance sheet
date on market value, existing use basis by independent
professionally qualified valuers. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual
results. In making the judgement, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties
is considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the balance sheet date are

used.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information is presented in respect of the
Group’s business segments, which is chosen as the primary

reporting format.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments,
revenues are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the
segments based on the location of the assets. No further
geographical information is presented as over 90% of the
Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in Hong
Kong, and over 90% of the Group’s assets are located in
Hong Kong.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group’s business segments represents a
strategic business unit that offers products and services
which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other business segments. Summary

details of the business segments are as follows:

(a) the building construction segment engages in
construction contract work as a main contractor
or subcontractor, primarily in respect of building

construction;

(b) the renovation, repairs and maintenance segment
engages in repairs, maintenance, renovation and

fitting out works;

(c) the civil engineering works segment engages in
roadworks, drainage and sewerage works, water
supply works, utilities engineering works and
landslip preventive and remedial works to slopes and

retaining walls;
(d) the property investment segment invests in retail,
commercial and residential premises for their rental

income potential; and

(e) the property development segment engages in the

development of properties.

There were no intersegment sales and transfers during the

year (2008: Nil).
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 ZFFENEZH=1—H

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4.
Business segments
The following tables present the revenue, results and
certain asset, liability and expenditure information for the

Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 March
2009 and 2008.

&

A oERAE R AN

oy BURRL (781)

e 8

TERIVE T AR B E 2R
AR R %% \AEE A = BRI
A~ AR TR - BUE M S R o

Group
A4
Renovation, repairs
Building construction and maintenance Civil engineering works ~ Property investment*  Property development** Consolidated
RETR B BBRRE AR BTy P B
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
CRBAE | CEBAE [CRBAE | ZEBAF [CRBAE| ZEBAE [CRBAE| ZEBNE | CRRAE| RN | CRRAE | ZRERNE
HK$'000|  HKS'000 | HKS'000| HK$000 | HKS'000| HKS'000 | HKS'000| HKS000 | HK$'000| HKS'000 | HKS$'000|  HKS000
L FEr| TEC| FEC| TED| FEC| FEC| FEd| T FEC| TEE|  FEr
Segment revenue: KA :

Sales o exteral custmers HETIRER 40| ML | 1486.280| 1086464 [ 260388 20| 11288 998 3990 36| 2,150,685 2078058
Seament results ks a0 | B0 | @ e nen | e 09| coMs)|  Lus | osoon| 1490
Interest and unallocated HBRAARL

income and gains AR 16,118 15,10
Unallocated expenses FARLAL (51321))  (48,186)
Finance costs g4 (18,808 (33,160)
Share of profits and losses of ElbkREER

jointly-controlled entities BHLER 106 -
Profit/(loss) before tax REwE/ (B8) (89,196) 93,506
Tax il 9947 (17408)
Profi(loss) for the year EERN/ (BR) (79.249) 76,09
*  The segment results of the property investment segment include o PEREEBENSBEEROTBREMELT

the net loss on changes in fair value of investment properties of {8 58 B 0 5 1R 4 121,476,000 00 (—FF
HK$121,476,000 (2008: net gain of HK$14,839,000). AR W25 A 14,839,000 0C)
#%  The segment results of the property development segment include o MR EERN S BEAOTRTE /SR

the impairment loss on properties held for development of
HK$34,920,000 (2008: HK$924,000) and write-down of property
held for sale to net realisable value of HK$4,000,000 (2008: Nil).

2 Wy 3 B IRAE I 134,920,000 70 (—FZ )\
4F 1 924,0009 J0) K R 1 B =2 4 20
5 A] 4 B 4,000,000 76 (R E J\4E ¢
#E) o
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AR R A

&

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W5 R Bk
31 March 2009 ZZFFAFE=ZH=+—H

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. EEF (H)

Business segments (continued) XHHB ()
Group
A4
Renovation, repairs
Building construction and maintenance Civil engincering works ~ Property investment Property development Consolidated
ELR B BBRNRE AR LESA k3 1 Bh
2009 2008 2009 1008 2009 1008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
SRBIE | CERAF [CRBAE | CETAF [CRBAE | ZEBAE [CRBAE| ZEBAE | SRBAE| CRBNE | SBFAE | ZR30E
HK$'000|  HKS'000 | HKS'000| HK$000 | HKS'000| HKS'000 | HKS'000| HKS000 | HK$'000| HKS'000 | HKS$'000|  HKS000
L TErC| TED| FET| TEC| FEr| 7L TEL| TEL| FEC| TER| FEr
Assets and liabiities BERAR
Seqment s HiEE 100766 1508 [ 20099 0%L| 62229 4598 | 472,084 6131|1987 ISLEST | 1036319 1317086
Interests in jointly-controlled REREHER
entities s 106 -
Unallocated assets KpgE 3816 11643
Total assets B 1,409,301 | 1,564,729
Segment liiliis AR 3945 64| 15043 enIe | e8| wem| o 31 293 0 L0 3| 380
Unallocated liabilities AR 008944 | T4
Total lsblties Al 91,36 100112
Other segment information: KpuEn:
Capital expenditure B - - - - - - 1,764 185,45 46,420 §38 48,184 186,093
Unallocated capial expenditure— ARABEARE 3628 118888
5812 305,081
Depreciation on wnallocated assets: KAEEEZHE 3,875 3,087
Amortisation of prepaid land BA RGN H
[ease payments - unallocated BH-FAE 3,015 1,405
Reversal of impairment of ElRanksn
accounts receivable - - (488)  (1.200) - - - - - - (d88)f (1,200
Impairment of properties WHERRZERK
held for development - - - - - - - -1 390 04 34920 04
Wite-down of property W EZERE
held for sale to net FUESEH
realisable value - - - - - - - - 4,000 - 4,000 -
Los/(gain) on changes in RENEATEER
fair value of investment B/ (k) - 54
properties, net - - - - - S| 10476 (14839) - - 11476 (148%9)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H
5.

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ’
WA OB A R A A U

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents

the appropriate proportion of contract revenue from

construction, renovation and other contracts, and

the gross rental income received and receivable from

properties during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as

5.

WA ~ 30l OO B W 2k
We N (T BIVA S5 T 1 8 SE0) T3 337 48 B
# ~ RT B LAt TRR A A0 R A L B 2 A
WO > B W 3 B WA % B WAL < e A\ A

%ﬁo

WA~ oAl e AT 2R Z A BT IR R

follows:
Group
A 45
2009 2008
e 2 5% 2 ZRE)N\E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B it T # F#x
Revenue B A
Contract revenue HHWA 2,140,998 2,064,944
Property gross rental income LIE LR PN K 11,687 13,314
2,152,685 2,078,258
Other income and gains ol Be A B 2%
Interest income B WA 9,810 21,064
Net interest received on HRATT A 4 i TR i O
derivative financial instruments RS RS R Y ey
— transactions not qualifying EMBENL S
as hedges 1,821 1,494
Management income received A6 — 3 [ 42 o) L 2
from a jointly-controlled entity WeB Z 45 B A 39 3,030 2,180
Sundry income METE WA 1,458 772
Gain on changes in fair value of BEWHEAN ST
investment properties, net Wz > B 16 - 14,839
Gain on changes in fair value AL T HAFE
of derivative financial HEZ W a > FH
instruments, net — transactions - R HGEBGME
not qualifying as hedges 38 5 28 - 240
Gain on disposal of investment Rk S/ E il €
properties 268 -
Gain on disposal of items of HEWE - HE R
property, plant and equipment WMEE 2 W - 20
16,387 40,609
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o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AR R A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

STATEMENTS

6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. BRBERTEA ()
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after AREEZ BRBATERA, UEE) ok (G
charging/(crediting): A) T &I -
Group
A
2009 2008
ZRZNAE 2 I
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hf it TF# Fi#
Depreciation Preg 14 3,875 3,687
Auditors’ remuneration % B i T 42 1,600 1,680
Employee benefits expense (exclusive 1 B & F) BA 3
of directors’ remuneration — note 8): (FEFBERWE
—M#E8) :
Wages and salaries TEE#H% 78,286 71,751
Equity-settled share option expense DIRE 25 45 50 0% I 5% WE 2 - 408
Pension scheme contributions AR 4 3 A 3k
(defined contribution schemes) (A e kst ) 2,451 2,540
Less: Forfeited contributions®* W0 TR M ke - (73)
Net pension scheme contributions FER N R T T ] 2,451 2,467
80,737 74,626
Minimum lease payments under IR RKZREMERSE
operating leases:
Land and buildings +Hh R 2,867 5,167
Equipment W 9,056 11,360
11,923 16,527
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

<&
ol oB OB R A A U

6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. BRBLNG &A1) (A7)
Group
A 4R M
2009 2008
—EERNAE ZRE)\E
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Mt T TF#x

Loss on changes in fair value of BE YA E AT

investment properties, net*® W 4R - A 16 121,476 -
Impairment of properties held for SRR JTPAYE TR (RS

development* 34,920 924
Write-down of property held for sale Fefr 1 B 2 W SEE

to net realisable value* 2 R] 5 B 4,000 -
Loss on disposal of investment HEREEN

properties*® Jies 1 - 824
Loss on disposal of items of property, B - HaS Kl

plant and equipment* HHZER 177 -
Reversal of impairment of accounts R WA R A AL D] 438

receivable*® (488) (1,200)
Reversal of bad debt written off as P A e W T i e 84 1

uncollectible* S5 R ] 43 = (600) -
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEAT 4 A A Sk

payments ) i £ 17 3,015 1,405
Loss on changes in fair value of A4 T HAFE

derivative financial instruments, HWZEHE > FH

net — transactions not qualifying - A REEW

as hedges* 168 P 1 A2 5 28 920 -
Government subsidies*** BURT & By (437) (590)
Net rental income LW AT (10,126) (12,031)
* These items are included in “Other expenses” on the face of the * ZEHHCY R GEA W FENZ [ H AL

consolidated income statement.

#k At 31 March 2009, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in
future years (2008: Nil).

Subsidies have been received from the Hong Kong Vocational
Training Council, an institution established by the Hong Kong
SAR Government, for providing on-the-job training for graduate
engineers. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to these subsidies.

e

# o AT RBAEZAZS—H o REEMERE
TR WBERK > DL A A 2L R AR AR B IR
PRwt AR 2 Bk (R 4R - ) o

ot O 8 3 2 AR B AL AR 3% I IS A
Tk S B 0 ) (A % [ IBORY 3 o7 Z R ) 2
B o H S A B % B 2 R AT AR
AR A -
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
MfEERAERAAE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R B

31 March 2009 —FEEAEZH=1+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WH N
Group
ARG
2009 2008
ZERIE ZERRENE
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#C Fi#T
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts SRITER KRB L ZF B 19,041 33,160
Less: Interest capitalised W EARH RS (233) -
18,808 33,160
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. WHM4
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant IR I 538 2 A A W @ 2 B 5L Al
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The (M Bl B R0 1) B 7 ¥ 2 =) 649 58 161 5 B 3%
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing ZAREEERMETFEWT
Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
A 4R 1M
2009 2008
“REIAE ZRFEN\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# T # T
Fees 4 540 540
Other emoluments: oAt 7 I -
Salaries, allowances and benefits Fia o H R EYA R
in kind 8,242 7,249
Discretionary performance related SR BIM B Z W B AE AL
bonuses 13,025 7,910
Equity-settled share option expense* VIRE 75 45 S50 100 Ji Bt W 2 1,998 4,318
Pension scheme contributions RN R
(defined contribution schemes) (A2 gk s #) 104 87
23,369 19,564
23,909 20,104
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ‘
ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁﬂ&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R B

31 March 2009 —FEEAEZH=1+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. %$Eﬂ%(

This represents the estimated fair value of the options granted to &hlﬁi@ﬁf\?ﬁ“ﬂiﬁlﬁﬁq%ﬁ"ﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬂﬁ
certain directors, in respect of their services to the Group, under BTRR > R PR A2 A IR R RE T 3% gk
the share option scheme of the Company during the year. The W R Z AN A A AE o S S A
fair value was measured as at the date of grant in accordance with P9 1A A 35 A4 4 1 % B 52 4 B 28 A TR T 0
the Group’s accounting policy for “Employees’ benefits — share- B A R — DL B 2 Fe ot i A 3k 22 B | 2 et
based payment transactions”, as disclosed in note 2.4. Details of BUOR » N34 T HaH i o 48 B0 i BORE 1 S
these options, including the principal terms and number of options (A 95 = MR B 9% 7 I IR RE R ) 3 AR
granted are set out in note 33. 1o 25 R M 33 o
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) MW rIEAT & ¢
The remuneration paid to independent non- AR B N ST T S FE AT #E S T 4
executive directors during the year were as follows: mE
2009 2008
"R ZERN\E
Employee Employee
share option Total share option Total
Fees benefits remuneration Fees benefits  remuneration
12 LI B 2 BB e

i HiM W e e Al L
HK$000 ~ HK$000  HK$000 ~ HK§'000 ~ HK§'000  HK$'000

T#x T#z T#L T#7x T#7x T#7x

Professor Ko Jan Ming R Lk 6 180 - 180 180 127 307
The Hon. Ip Kwok Him, GBS, JP ERHH B

(EEHEFE > A THE) 180 - 180 180 127 307
Mr. Fung Pui Cheung Eugene S HE S A 180 - 180 180 127 307

540 - 540 540 381 921

There were no other emoluments payable to the TAARAEFE P > 3 S HE A 8 S R AT
independent non-executive directors during the year AL (RN : ) o
(2008: Nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £E##& @



AR R A

o VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director

8. I ()
(b) A7 H P R P47 P

2009
Z2FhAp
Salaries, Discretionary
allowances  performance Employee Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme Total
in kind bonuses benefits contributions remuneration
Faoc BN REBHB AR B4
REDNE  ZENEL FiR al# % B 4
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T#x T T#x
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung BhdR i e A 2,895 7,000 - 12 9,907
M. Yau Kwok Fai it B R 4 2,486 3,000 - 12 5,498
Mr. Li Chi Pong ESE 1,221 525 - 56 1,802
Mr. Mak Hon Kuen Peter R 600 - 1,998 12 2,610
7,202 10,525 1,998 92 19,817
Non-executive director: FEHTH S
Mr. Shek Yu Ming Joseph oL p S 1,040 2,500 - 12 3,552
8,242 13,025 1,998 104 23,369
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ‘
ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ&ﬂ&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WHM4E ()
(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director (b) AT S R IEPAT I ()

(continued)

2008
ZERF)\F

Salaries,  Discretionary

allowances  performance Employee Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme Total
in kind bonuses benefits  contributions  remuneration

B mMRk O BRERBME O 0EB MR Bk
Eyfas  ZBEEL A it 1 it 5% T 4

HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt Tt Tt T#T Tt

Executive directors: HiTES
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung Bdi e A 2,799 2,500 127 12 5,438
Mr. Yau Kwok Fai e 5 2,381 2,000 1,270 12 5,663
Mr. Li Chi Pong IR 1,029 910 1,270 51 3,260
6,209 5,410 2,667 75 14,361
Non-executive director: FMfTES
M. Shek Yu Ming Joseph B e A 1,040 2,500 1,270 12 4,822
1,249 7910 3,937 87 19,183
There was no arrangement under which a director ARy ] N JE A AR AR JEE A WA T &k
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during EEC0 = AR & Ay & AR TN
the year (2008: Nil). G (ZRE)\4E ) -
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
N‘ﬁﬁ%&ﬁmﬁﬂ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. T4 5% w3k AR B
The five highest paid employees during the year included AR BE ) T4 5 R R B L RS A (2
five (2008: four) directors, details of whose remuneration FHJ\AE  WUAL) P> 5 Z T4 5 IR
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration i BSOS c R EZRFRNEEA
of the remaining one non-director, highest paid employee ET—HIEFEEN > 68T — b5 & 5 Ik
for the year ended 31 March 2008 are as follows: HHZ IR B AT Z M E RS T
Group
A% 4R
2008
ZRER)N\E
HK$’000
F#T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4 - HAE R E YR 35 805
Discretionary performance related bonuses B B HH PR 2 199 1 AB AT 200
Pension scheme contributions RN R 37
1,042
10. TAX 10. BLXH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of T v T 15 B0 T AR AR AR JBE P9 AR T 98 i A =2 A
16.5% (2008: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits F1HE SR B s R FE B R 16.5% (B E )\ 4 :
arising in Hong Kong during the year. The profits tax rate 17.5%) fE 354 - WA BEBRBRH R
has been reduced from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from ZN/ ZEBIABEERLEL17.5%H 2
the year of assessment 2008/2009, and hence 16.5% is 16.5% > Fk16.5% % R AREBBRE 2R
applicable to the Group’s financial year ended 31 March NWEZAZ+—H L2 BBR4ER -
2009.
Group
A4
2009 2008
ZREBMAE ZREN\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T #C Fi#or
Current — Hong Kong W -
Charge for the year A4 13,054 17,144
Overprovision in prior years VA T 47 B 7 A A (325) (143)
Deferred (note 31) JEAE (M 7E31) (22,676) 407
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year AR FERLIE B 32 (W 2% ) S84 (9,947) 17,408
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profit/(loss) before tax using the statutory rate to the tax

expense/(credit) at the effective tax rate is as follows:

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

B"oAs R ARAA

&

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W5 R Bk
31 March 2009
10. TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to

10. BEHH (4)
308 L ) 32 5 B R ST R B AT R R
18) 2 BLIE B X, (M2 ) SR T 25 Bt e 3t
BRI Y (R3E) W EN T

Group
A 4R M
2009 2008
—EERNAE ZRBE)\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T TF#x

Profit/(loss) before tax KRR RE A (48D (89,196) 93,506
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory HWHF W EREL6.5%

tax rate of 16.5% (2008: 17.5%) (ZFF)NE 2 17.5%)

it Z B (14,717) 16,364

Effect on opening deferred tax of 78 2R [ A1K 38 391 400 9% A2 A 0E

decrease in rates ) 7 2 (1,929) -
Adjustments in respect of current tax ESEV R U EE RN U i

of previous periods ik ke (325) (143)
Profit attributable to a jointly-controlled S oG % L ) e ) A Y

entity it 7 (17) -
Income not subject to tax W BLIRA (117) (1,573)
Expenses not deductible for tax YNGR A A 919 2,171
Tax losses utilised from previous periods I DA T30 R S s 4R - (18)
Tax losses not recognised R T 7R 2 e e 4R 7,348 731
Reversal of temporary differences upon B B W 3 R

disposal of investment properties 2 B[] ik (1,129) -
Others oAl 20 (124)
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s AR E R E BB R

effective rate BRI B X7 (W 2s) (9,947) 17,408

The share of tax attributable to a jointly-controlled entity

amounting to HK$15,000 (2008: Nil) is included in
“Share of profits and losses of jointly-controlled entities”

on the face of the consolidated income statement.

it Jag iy A [W) 42 o) 9 98 A9 B T %% 15,0009 T
TERBNG W) > BEt AL EL L
PR T A G [s) 452 ) B B v ) S s 4R
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AR R A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009
11.

12.

13.

ZEFNF=ZH=1—H

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit/(loss) attributable to equity
holders of the parent for the year ended 31 March 2009
includes a profit of approximately HK$571,000 (2008:
HK$209,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company (note 34(b)).

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividends in respect of the year (2008: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year,
as used in the basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential

ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

W %5 it 3R B Rk
31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H
13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY

A oERAE R AN

&

13. B 2 v 3% 70 HE 2 1 A N HE AN A I8 4L

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per

A Ok (81

W RREA R B A O ) TR BT

share are based on: WA
2009 2008
ZRZNAE 2 I
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF# Fi#
Earnings/(loss) #A ()
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary HRCE & T & B
equity holders of the parent, used AR (8 W B £8
in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) B W) R S RN
per share calculation JEAL # A, (5 1) (79,249) 76,098
Number of shares
e by ¥ H
2009 2008
ZERIE 2 I
Shares I 1
Weighted average number of ordinary AR ARRA S UEH) K
shares in issue during the year, used B £ F A B
in the basic earnings/(loss) per OB 4734 7 1
share calculation TR ~F- 35 % 1,486,692,411 1,174,810,330
Effect of dilution: R
Share options % e i 7,063,595
Weighted average number of ordinary SR T 2 )
shares, used in the diluted earnings JT R 3 58 It oo e
per share calculation S 2 8 1,181,873,925

A diluted loss per share amount for the year ended 31
March 2009 has not been disclosed, as the share options
outstanding during the year had an anti-dilutive effect on

the basic loss per share for the year.

BREFZNE=ZH=+—HILEERER
B R B WUR R R RIS AR W R AT B
P S T S 9 4 B P PR RE A T A A TR
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
HfEEBREAERAAE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 5 IR 3 WY ik
31 March 2009 —FEFNFE=ZH="1—H
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y3k ~ B B i
Group
A AR 1
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Leasehold and  and office Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
B
filtt BH REkER
L SR E S ] Rkl AR i it
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TH#x T#T T#T T#T T#T T#T
2009 “EB0E
At 31 March and REZRRNEZRA=+—H
1 April 2008: KMJ—H:
Cost JRA 10,290 4,426 3,887 8,629 6,548 33,780
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment BEHE R (265) (1,764) (2,986) (6,032) (4,768)  (15,815)
Net carrying amount R T FE 10,025 2,602 901 2,597 1,780 17,965
Net carrying amount RZZRNELA—R
at 1 April 2008 Z T 10,025 2,661 901 2597 1,780 17,965
Additions E - - 126 1,529 1973 3,628
Disposals e - - - (88) (494) (582)
Depreciation provided
during the year R RE (259) (885) (343) (1,150) (1,238) (33875)
Net carrying amount RERRNEZRA=Z+—H
at 31 March 2009 IR 9,766 1,777 684 2,888 2,021 17,136
At 31 March 2009: REZFRAEZAZT—H:
Cost A 10,290 4,426 3,854 9,912 5,890 34372
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment R R (524) (2,649) (3,170) (7,024) (3,869)  (17,236)
Net carrying amount R T FE 9,766 1,777 684 2,888 2,021 17,136

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £E®H&E



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ‘
ﬁ%%&ﬁﬁﬁﬂ&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S 5 IR 3 WY ik
31 March 2009 —FEFNFE=ZH="1—H
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. P2k ~ B8 Bt (48)
(continued)
Group
AL M
Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Leasehold and  and office Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
B
ALl BE HERER
By WREE Rt A% i st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#7 T#T T#T T#T T#7 T#T
2008 ZEEAE
At 31 March and REZRRLEZN=Z+—H
1 April 2007: KMJ—H:
Cost A 5175 6,056 3,133 11,935 5,389 32,288
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment BT R (1,294) (2,529) (2,751) (9,572) (3938)  (20,084)
Net carrying amount R T A 3,881 3527 982 2,363 1,451 12,204
Net carrying amount RZZFLENA—H
at 1 April 2007 Z IR 3,881 3,521 982 2,363 1,451 12,204
Additions RE - 19 315 1,257 1,547 3,138
Acquisitions (note 35) Wik (H7i35) 6,310 - - - - 6,310
Depreciation provided
during the year EERE (166) (884) (396) (1,023) (1,218) (3,687)
Net carrying amount RZRRNEZJ=1+—H
at 31 March 2008 Z IR 10,025 2,661 901 259 1,780 17,965
At 31 March 2008: REFRNEZAZT—H:
Cost A 10,290 4,426 3,887 8,629 6,548 33,780
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment B R (265) (1,764) (2,986) (6,032) (4,768) (15,815)
Net carrying amount e 1 10,025 2,661 901 2,597 1,780 17,965
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BB R A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009
14.

15.

16.

ZEFNF=ZH=1—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s buildings with a net
book value of approximately HK$9,766,000 (2008:
HK$10,025,000) are pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

At 31 March 2009 and 2008, the Group’s buildings are
situated on the leasehold land in Hong Kong. Details
of the leasehold land are disclosed in note 17 to the
financial statements.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

At 31 March 2009 and 2008, all of the Group’s properties
held for development are pledged to secure certain bank
loans and general banking facilities of the Group (note

30).

The leasehold land included in properties held for
development is situated in Hong Kong and is held under

long term leases.

14. Y% ~ BRA Bt i (4)

15.

N_BFNEZA=Z+—H > REMHERF
B #79,766,000¥ 7T (—FF J\4- : 10,025,000
WIT) MM TR AT > MR R 4R T AR —
J SR AT b P 4 AR (BRFRE30)

PERFAERZFFNE=ZH=1—H >
AC SR B M AL A VA v o AR
R AR RO B R M LT o

HAhEERZYE
REFRMERZRZNE=ZA=Z+—H
PR AR BRI R R MY TEH > U
UG A SR A T SR AT Bk B — i R AT b i
(HF3E30) o

GG e 15 1R 38 e 2 4 SR R AL - M R A
W WU RBMAFA -

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. ¥ WX
Group
A 4R 1M
2009 2008
—EERNAE ZRE)\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T TF#x
Carrying amount at beginning of year AR J91 ¥ R T 613,104 412,810
Additions wE 1,764 455
Disposals 8 (21,500) -
Acquisitions (note 35) Wl (M EE35) - 185,000
Gain/(loss) on fair value changes, net A EEB KRS UER) »
I (121,476) 14,839
Carrying amount at end of year A4 78 W B T 471,892 613,104
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ‘
ﬁ%%&ﬁ@ﬁﬂ&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B8 &Y ¥ (H)
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties is as AL MR EWESTWMT -
follows:
2009 2008
ZRB2IE ZEREB)N\F
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#x T
Hong Kong: U
Long term leases R A 200,360 260,360
Medium term leases 3 L4 269,150 350,300
469,510 610,660
Elsewhere* T Ath M i 2,382 2,444
471,892 613,104
* At the balance sheet date, whilst the application is in progress, * NEEAGEED  ARFEBETFEHNLEE
the certificate of ownership with respect to one of the Group’s B> GBI ERWARE LA WA EE
investment properties with a carrying value of approximately FlHES—HR _EEALE=H=+—H
HK$2,382,000 (2008: HK$2,444,000) at 31 March 2009 had not Z MREE % %92,382,0008 0 (—FEF )\ 4 ¢
been issued by the relevant government authorities. 2,444,000 70) 2 EW XN FEEE -
The Group’s investment properties were revalued on AREBMBEYETIRB L HEEAEKAMAME
31 March 2009 by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, Fifl 4 75 R AT A PR A R IR R LA & A
independent professionally qualified valuers, at WELM > MEYWEN R NE=H=1—
HK$471,892,000 (2008: HK$613,104,000) on market H W AE #471,892,000% 0 (—FF )\ 4 ¢
value, existing use basis. 613,104,000¥JC) °
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
N‘ﬁﬁ%&ﬁmﬁﬂ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B W E (H)

Certain of the Group’s investment properties are leased
to third parties under operating leases, further details
of which are included in note 37(a) to the financial
statements. The gross rental income received and
receivable by the Group and related expenses in respect of

these investment properties are summarised as follows:

ARGEEE TREW LM EMAM T
= A B M2 R U B R
37(a) o ACSR T B 1L 45 B W 3 B WOBCK E
e Z A A B BUR A B S RS T

Group
A% 45 [
2009 2008
ZRBNIAE ZEREB)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T
Gross rental income e WA B 11,298 9,988
Direct expenses HEH¥X (1,101) (1,106)
Net rental income A W A\ 10,197 8,882

At 31 March 2009, the Group’s investment properties
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$469,150,000
(2008: HK$610,300,000) were pledged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties
are included in the “Summary of Properties” section of
the annual report.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ‘
ﬁ%%&ﬁ@ﬁﬂ&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

17. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 17. BAY 4 b A A K 8
Group
A 4R 1M
2009 2008
“REIAE ZREFEN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 T
Carrying amount at beginning of year AR J91 ¥ % T 118,000 9,965
Acquisitions (note 35) Wi (M aE35) - 109,440
Amortised during the year A AR JE BB (3,015) (1,405)
Carrying amount at end of year T4 2% 1 R T A 114,985 118,000
Current portion included in prepayments, BTN R ~ e Rk
deposits and other receivables Al K G D 9 4 (3,015) (3,015)
Non-current portion Ik BB 4 111,970 114,985
At 31 March 2009, the Group’s prepaid land lease RERRBIVEZH=Z1—H o REEMHEAT
payments are pledged to secure general banking facilities FHE A 3O ORI > DU EBUGR T AW
granted to the Group (note 30). — R SRAT A B E (Fi5E30) -
The leasehold lands are held under medium term leases ME PP ER S H » HALRF
and are situated in Hong Kong. b 3
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
N‘ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁmﬁﬂ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

18. GOODWILL 18. Fi %

The amount of the goodwill capitalised as an asset in the
consolidated balance sheet, arising from the acquisition
of minority interests of certain subsidiaries after 1 April
2001 is as follows:

P R AR Y H — H AR RO T B e A
2 W R R R A A 2 PR R E A
ki B AR HEEZHENT

Group

A 45
2009 2008
“ERMAE ZRE)N\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T # F#T

At beginning and end of year: AR AR A

Cost A 14,717 14,717
Accumulated impairment HEH (14,717) (14,717)
Net carrying amount W TG 1R - -

There was no movement in goodwill during the year.

As further detailed in note 2.4 to the financial
statements, the Group applied the transitional provisions
of HKFRS 3 that permitted goodwill in respect of business
combinations which occurred prior to 2001, to remain

eliminated against consolidated reserves.

The amount of goodwill remaining in consolidated
goodwill reserve, arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries prior to 1 April 2001, was approximately
HK$5,035,000 as at 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2009.

Such amount of goodwill is stated at its cost.

@ ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 FEHR%E
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

@
ol oB OB H R A A U
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA 5 I e WY

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. 7 BB 2 vl 2 hi 2
Company
A2 H]
2009 2008
ZRB2IE ZEREB)N\F
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#x T
Unlisted shares, at cost Ik BB - REAE 64,147 64,147
Due from subsidiaries Wi g o ) R 215,542 213,396
279,689 271,543

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,

interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The carrying amounts of the amounts due from

subsidiaries approximate to their fair values.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation issued and
Name and operations paid-up capital
FRUJ A [BY gy
H B B0 0 W A i
Profit Chain Investments British Virgin US$70,000
Limited (“Profit Chain”) [slands/ Ordinary
Hong Kong 70,000% 76
SREMETE i I

B

FoF JE 2 W) SR 5 TR ~ SR M5 e ] S 3 K
% o

Pof JE 2 i) 5k A M T i 8 30 L 2 - R AL

TR A F R

Percentage of equity
attributable to

the Company Principal activities

7R i) M A
JBeHE Vi 43 e TEEH
Direct Indirect
Hik A %
100 - Investment holding

B e
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
HfEEBREAERAAE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H
19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19. AW B A 2Kk ()

incorporation issued and attributable to
Name and operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
ik O 2% ¢y AR A
4 3 L:28] B0 0 IR A i JBeHE i B b LERH
Direct Indirect
H [EES

Able Engineering Hong Kong HK$3,789,000 Ordinary - 100 Building construction,
Company Limited i HK$11,211,000 maintenance and civil
ZRIBEHRAF Non-voting deferred engineering works
(Note) BFER
3,789,000 70 ¥ 1l It BEREATR

11,211,000# 78

02 57 MR A it

(Wit
Gold Vantage Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Property holding
SLEA AT ] Ordinary WERFH

1007 76 ¥ 8 It
Excel Engineering Hong Kong HK$13,000,000 - 100 Building construction,
Company Limited Bk Ordinary maintenance and
R TRARAF 13,000,003 7¢ civil engineering works
W M R
HEREATR
Gadelly Construction Hong Kong HK$3,700,000 - 100 Construction
Company Limited & Ordinary and plant hiring
s A A A 3,700,003 7¢ RETRR
W e BWALE
Able Contractors Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Building
BREEFRA T i Ordinary construction
10,0009 7c ¥ 1 Mt i Sg:31

Place of

@ ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 FEHR%E
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

— B

=FF

NE=ZH=1+—H

VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AR ARAA

19. J& W8 2> 7 2 it 4 (4)

&

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation issued and attributable to
Name and operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
ik O 2% ¢y AR A
4 3 L:28] B0 0 IR A i JBeHE i B b LERH
Direct Indirect
H [EES
Able Maintenance Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Building
Company Limited i Ordinary construction and
RRGEEA A 10,0009 76 8 it maintenance works
MR REE TR
Covalla Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Property development
HLHER A W il Ordinary LES 13
10,0009 7 ¥ 1 fie
Good Trader Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property development
EEARA ] Ordinary MR
19 70 ¥ T
Great Business Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property holding
EBEARA T pi Ordinary MERFH
19 70
Comfort Home Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property development
REBFEHMAF il Ordinary LES 13
LT i
Win Glories Limited Hong Kong HK$9,600 - 100 Property holding
A TRA i Ordinary MERFH
9,600 7 ¥ 1 it
Hobol Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property holding
B A R A A i Ordinary MERFH
19 70
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
BB R A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

19. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 19.
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation issued and
Name and operations paid-up capital
ik O 2% ¢y
4 3 L:28] B0 0 IR A i
Win Extra Limited (“Win Extra”) Hong Kong HK$10,000
A A RAF (M5 i Ordinary
10,0007 72 ¥ 1 1t
Frason Holdings Limited ( “Frason”) Hong Kong HK$10,000
B RA WA R ([HF]) Bk Ordinary
10,0007 7C ¥ 1 1t

Note:  The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends or
to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting
of the company or to participate in any distribution on winding-
up.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected

the results for the year or formed a substantial portion

T W0 A W) 2 B A (%)
Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company Principal activities
AR A
JBeHE i B b LERH
Direct Indirect
H Ih]
- 100 Property holding
WERA
- 100 Property holding
WERAH

Mk + A S AR OE S i SO R IR 8, - R S
T 24T Bl 4 ) AT ] I SR i 2 o
JE R o TE LR A F M
FHAL AT 23R

BRI R R AR A AR
ol AR BRAR 4 fEL  BE 2 AK
J& AT o BEHERBR > F ALK E A W 2 &

of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other B S EOERHB A IT R -
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 20. A 3 [n) % B 2 HE
ENTITIES
Group
AL H
2009 2008
ZERIE ZEREN\S
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# T
Share of net assets FEASG 3 F 2 H 106 -
Due from jointly-controlled entities 7 Wi A (] 47 ) B R O 90 1,830
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ’
ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁﬂ&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 20. JA& 3% [ P o B8 Z RE 2R (FH)
ENTITIES (continued)
The amounts due from jointly-controlled entities are R e s ] i o) A T S - AR B R
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of [iE] e 3 7K o
repayment.
Particulars of the jointly-controlled entities are as follows: e h R ERm T
Percentage of
BiAli Ay e
Business Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name structure registration interest power  sharing activity
# E 3 E Wil S  BEARELR  BORAE O Armd B30
Excel-China Harbour Body Hong Kong 70 50 70  Engineering
Joint Venture unincorporate HB contractor
1 2 H 3 I 3 1 TAREE
T s Y [
Able E&M Engineering Limited Hong Kong 50 50 50 Engineering
Limited company FE contractor
RHBE TR HIRAH TFER T
AR
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
HfEEBREAERAAE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

20. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 20. JA& 3% [ P o B8 Z RE 2R (FH)
ENTITIES (continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial T 7 B A 4 [ 3L [ e o) P R SR B S
information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entities: B
2009 2008
e 2 5% 2 ZRER)NE
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#C F#x
Share of the jointly-controlled 434 A ] 42 ) B S Y
entities” assets and liabilities: A E
Current assets W 12,175 11,078
Current liabilities A E (12,069) (11,078)
Net assets %A 106 —
Share of the jointly-controlled S Al S ] 4 o) B RS R4 -

entities’ results:

Revenue KA 66,391 60,728
Other income Ho At e A 3,541 2,983
Total revenue LU N 69,932 63,711
Total expenses B (69,811) (63,711)
Tax FhIE (15) -
Profit after tax [ i 1% w4 F1 106 -
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED "'

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H
21. CONSTRUCTION, RENOVATION AND
OTHER CONTRACTS

22.

23.

oA oEBAE R AN

21, B ~ BB K L TS

Group
A 4R 1M
2009 2008
“EENAE ZRE)\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F#x
Gross amount due from customers FEWE P Z A # TR R A
for contract work 142,190 267,744
Gross amount due to customers JERT &P Z A % TR R A
for contract work (140,657) (69,335)
1,533 198,409
Contract costs incurred plus B #9 A T B R e R = ¥
recognised profits less recognised B TR R 2 R
losses to date 3,395,038 4,194,451
Less: Progress billings Ve A P AR KO (3,393,505) (3,996,042)
1,533 198,409

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

The Group’s properties under development as at 31 March
2009 and 2008 are expected to be recovered after more
than twelve months.

The Group’s properties under development are situated in
Hong Kong and are held under medium term leases.

PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE
At 31 March 2009, the Group’s property held for sale is
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the

Group (note 30).

The Group’s property held for sale is situated in Hong
Kong and is held under a long term lease.

ﬁe

22. b E
REBBNAER BRINEZA=ZT—H >
A4 T i B R vh g S TR T A R

23. AR B2 WK

— MR R AT 7 BB (i RE30) o

WM 5 h -

ACEE T 1 5 i b SE A A U > HLDL P A
BERARA -

RERFZAEZA=Z+—H o REEFEAE
B 2 W3 TSR > DU IR T A I 1

AREE AN EZWEMREE > HUR
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
N‘ﬁﬁ%&ﬁmﬁﬂ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
W5 R Bk
31 March 2009 ZZFFAFE=ZH=+—H

24. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 24. HEWCR

Accounts receivable consists of receivables from contract
work and rentals under operating leases. The payment
terms of contract work are stipulated in the relevant

contracts. Rentals are normally payable in advance.

JE W R B B A TR R AR B2 HE
WOk = %) TRR Z SRR A B e 2
HIpET Bl o A — R AR IR AT

Group
A
2009 2008
ZERIE ZEREN\S
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# T8
Accounts receivable JE W B 3 208,133 240,305
Less: Allowance for individual impairment ¥ * {8 31l 38 i 4 #5 - (488)
208,133 239,817

At 31 March 2009, retentions receivable included
in accounts receivable amounted to approximately

HK$71,402,000 (2008: HK$104,017,000).

Accounts receivable that were determined to be
individually impaired as at 31 March 2008 related to one
customer who has delayed payments and the management
assessed that only a portion of the receivables may be
recovered. The Group did not hold collateral over this

balance.
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VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ‘
ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009

24. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)
The ageing analysis of the accounts receivable, net of

allowance, as at the balance sheet date is as follows:

— B

=FF

NE=ZH=1+—H

24. HEWCR K ()
T A 2 O (L1 B e ) i G
SHTWIE :

Group

L]
2009 2008
ZREBhAE ZREN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # T T¥#x
Current — 3 months B3] — 308 A 198,110 236,619
4 — 6 months 446 5217
Over 6 months 9,577 2,671
208,133 239,817

Impairment losses in respect of accounts receivable are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group
considers that the recovery of an amount is remote, in

A ) IR ARk i 9 AL 4R 75 8 P A R i
Bk > BRI A G I 0 WA I K I I A T ARG
RPN o AERZ S OL T > W IR BB A

which case an impairment loss is recognised by directly 2 T DR IR DA R sk B i 1 ke T R o
writing down the carrying amount of the accounts
receivable.
Movements in the allowance for impairment are as WAL RS SE B
follows:
Group
7 4
2009 2008
“REIAE ZRFEN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 T
Beginning of year 488 1,688
Impairment loss reversed AR s 1 [l (488) (1,200)
End of year - 488
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‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
N‘ﬁﬁ%&ﬁmﬁﬂ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 ZFFENEZH=1—H
24. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)
The ageing analysis of the accounts receivable that are

past due but not impaired are as follows:

24. MO (A1)
A8 76 1 L 36 08 Dk AL ) M MACosk D UG B 2 A7

Group

A AR
2009 2008
ZREBhAE ZREN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#xT Fi#or

Past due but not impaired: 76 H1 R NI 0 kA <

One to three months past due W1 E3IMEA 7,362 6,045
Four to six months past due w4z 6 A 307 1,584
Over six months past due A3 o fE H 9,566 1,200
17,235 8,829
Neither past due nor impaired R 40 76 191 7 206 9k 190,898 230,988
208,133 239,817

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that have
a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no allowance for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not

hold collaterals over these balances.
Accounts receivable that are neither past due nor

impaired relate to a number of independent customers

who have no recent history of default.
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. TAAT S ~ 34 B il HE WOk
RECEIVABLES
Group Company
¥ | A2
2009 2008 2009 2008
“ERME | DERR)\E | DERE| DER)N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T#or T#x T
Prepayments TH AT I 14,378 17,857 - -
Deposits and other e 4 T G At JE WK
receivables 32,203 19,035 - —
Due from a related company JAE s R W 2 ) K I 300 - - -
46,881 36,892 - -

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate

to receivables for which there was no recent history of

default.

The amount due from a related company is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

St g A 0 AT A SRR o bt A5 B T
35 11 < T S T A ) 0 20 9 R AR ek g E

R W M 2 ] sk T A Y~ Rt R 3%
LRI H R o

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 &£E#®%& @



0 VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

AR R A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R B

31 March 2009 —FEFEAE=ZH="1—H
26. PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH 26. Bk R KB4 LB E%4MAY

EQUIVALENTS
Group Company
¥ | A2
2009 2008 2009 2008
“ERME | DERR)\E | DERE| DER)N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#x F#x F#x F#x
Pledged deposits kAR
Bank balance pledged Ty AT R HUAE
against banking facilities HEAH B SRAT 7 K 1,043 1,612 - -
Time deposits pledged T DL R AR HR A
against: EFK
— bank overdraft facilities - BATIE X H 2,176 1,072 - -
— other bank facilities — HoAth SR AT Bk & A 2,293 3,351 - -
5,512 6,035 - -
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBE&5EY
Cash and bank balances Bl & M SRAT 456k 114,136 60,351 426 410
Non-pledged time deposits S 4K 0 E W1 AF K 92,455 23,451 - -
206,591 83,802 426 410

The time deposits pledged to banks were to secure general

banking facilities granted to the Group (note 30).

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily

bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made

for varying periods of between one day and three months

depending on the immediate cash requirements of the

Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time

deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits

are deposited with banks with high credit ratings and no

recent history of default.
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27.

28.

ZEFNFE=ZH=1—H
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the

balance sheet date is as follows:

217.

&

Bofs R ARAA

HE A Bk K
T AT HE A Rk M 8 3 T

Group

A4
2009 2008
ZERIE ZREN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F oL
Current — 3 months B3] — 308 A 147,426 186,761
4 — 6 months 4—6fEl H 24,412 15,244
Over 6 months o A 66,648 49,393
238,486 251,398

At 31 March 2009, retentions payable included in
accounts payable under current liabilities amounted to

approximately HK$65,653,000 (2008: HK$54,079,000).

Included in the accounts payable are trade payables of
approximately HK$181,000 (2008: HK$181,000) due to
related parties who are family members of a director of the
Company, which are unsecured, interest-free and have no

fixed terms of repayment.

Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing. The payment

terms are stipulated in the relevant contracts.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts
to manage its interest rate exposures which did not meet
the criteria for hedge accounting. The aggregate notional
amount of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts
as at 31 March 2008 was HK$150,000,000. All of the
interest rate swap contracts were terminated as at 31
March 2009. Loss on changes in the fair value of the
interest rate swap contracts amounting to approximately
HK$920,000 (2008: gain of HK$240,000) was recognised

in the income statement for the year.

28.

R-FFLE=ZHAH=Z+—H JIERB A
ETFTZ AR OFEEMNREZEL
65,653,000%5 76 (=& % )\ 4 : 54,079,000%5
JG) o

FEARE A R K A 2 A Ry o A S R AR
A — 44 # F R TE R B Z MR A181,000%
J6 (=R F VA 2 181,000 0) 5 MEHL I -
B B B S [ 58 R A o

HE R S0 L, = REIK B R AT T4 20
T ) -

fMAELBTH

AR CET LA R A > DL B
S0 A 3R B > bR R B A AR A
Mg EEARER - R FRNEZ
H=EZ1—H > CHARMNREBGAMAES
G 4 %5150,000,000970 » R RRIEZS
AZ+—H  iAMNXHEH A TREK
1k o i 3R J5i A 40 B A 1 5 ) s 4R B B
#1920,000% 70 (ZF = )\ 4 Y #5240,000%
Jt) > BAEAAE RIS R N -
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

29. JCfib ME A % B TUE e M

Group Company
A 4 Y N/

2009 2008 2009 2008
ZRRBAME | ZER)N\E | ZERAE | ZFR)N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T Fi T T
Other payables JL th, ME A 3% 11,223 7,953 210 213
Accruals HREH 2,253 2,773 - -
13,476 10,726 210 213

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are expected

to be settled within one year.

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS

HoAts EAS KA G B > M T AL —4E N o

30. wh B SR AT £E 3K

Group
AL M
Effective Effective
interest rate 2009 interest rate 2008
(%) HK$’000 (%) HK$’000
BB % ZEEAE BB A R ZEENE
(%) T#x (%) T#C
Current WE
Bank overdrafts — secured and WAITE L - AR
at floating interest rates HWF A R EA L 3.50 - 5.50 3,482 1.34-17.25 3,571
Bank loans — secured and at AT B — R &
floating interest rates R ARG EA L 1.00 - 6.11 198,185 2.69 - 17.25 185,015
201,667 188,586
Non-current FE 5
Bank loans — secured and at SAT Bk — R R %
floating interest rates TR KRR B 1.00 - 6.11 381,483 2.72 - 6.39 503,976
583,150 092,562
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 30. #H & #47 Bk ()

(continued)

Group

A4

2009 2008
e 2 5% 2 ZRER)NE
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#C F#x
Analysed into: vk
Bank loans and overdrafts repayable: WITRFRIBEX »
BEBWT
Within one year or on demand — AR N R R A R 201,667 188,586
In the second year A 25,486 120,193
In the third to fifth years, inclusive AR
(45 R 4F) 74,978 71,458
Beyond five years A, L 281,019 312,325
583,150 692,562

The interest rates of the Group’s bank loans are primarily A5 [ SRAT B 3k AR 2R TG R B8 i 4 R R A

repriced every month according to market rate changes. i 18 H A o

The Group’s secured bank loans and overdrafts are A 85 T A KA SR AT Rk K2 3 DA R B E H AR

secured by: A

(i) legal charges over the Group’s investment properties, (i) WA H SR H E 49 %5 469,150,000 70
which had an aggregate carrying value at the balance (ZFZF)\4F :610,300,000% 70 ) Z A5
sheet date of approximately HK$469,150,000 (2008: [ 3G Wy S I 5
HK$610,300,000);

(ii) legal charges over the Group’s buildings and (i) A< [ A e LA e o L ) 3k A 1 3
prepaid land lease payments, which had carrying EMGT > AT E > JLHR T E 4 0 A %
amounts at the balance sheet date of approximately 9,766,000% 70 ( ~&F & )\ 4 : 10,025,000
HK$9,766,000 (2008: HK$10,025,000) and Wt ) 5 114,985,0008 70 (—FF )\ 4 :
HK$114,985,000 (2008: HK$118,000,000) 118,000,000%# L) 3
respectively.
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK LOANS 30. sF BT Bk ()

(continued)

(iii) legal charges over the Group’s properties held for
development, which had an aggregate carrying
value at the balance sheet date of approximately

HK$127,000,000 (2008: HK$115,500,000);

(iv) legal charges over the Group’s property held for
sale, which had a carrying value at the balance
sheet date of approximately HK$40,833,000 (2008:
HK$44,833,000);

(v) the pledge of certain of the Group’s cash and
bank balances and time deposits amounting to
approximately HK$5,512,000 (2008: HK$6,035,000)
at the balance sheet date; and

(vi) the assignment of the Group’s financial benefits under
certain contract works. Accounts receivable under
those contract works amounted to approximately
HK$95,770,000 (2008: HK$167,760,000) as at 31
March 2009.

In addition, the Company has provided corporate
guarantees against certain of the Group’s banking facilities
to the extent of approximately HK$1,091,281,000 (2008:
HK$1,369,704,000) as at 31 March 2009 (note 36(a)).

All of the above bank loans of the Group are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of

the Group’s bank loans approximate to their fair values.
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(iii) JAAE H SEHRE (A 445 127,000,000% 70
(B )\4E 1 115,500,000 50 ) WA 4E
B AR ENEENT

(iv) B &5 5% H W w4 49 %540,833,000% 7
(ZFRZJ\4E 44,833,000 50 ) Ml A 45
R EREZ RN ENT

(v) WAEESH A %5,512,0008 50 (= F
)\ 1 6,035,000 00 ) Z AL B 2 T
B4 T SRAT R85 DL B B B A7 3K BT 5
K&

(vi) BEA R ALEEA THEETRAHZ
WMEMME - N RRAUE=ZA=Z1+—
H o H B % % 55 TR A 40 9 HE IR
K HH195,770,0009 70 (B E )\ 4E
167,760,000¥#J5) °

AN > REZBRBRIAEZAZT—H > RAH
Ty AR ER A BRAT A PR P49 1,091,281,000
Wt (ZFF )\ 1 1,369,704,000¥70) Z A
AR (HRE36(a)) ©
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31. DEFERRED TAX 31. MEHEBLH
The components of net deferred tax (assets)/liabilities TAASAE JBE 7 A G B R v W SR A AR AT
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet and the B (& EE) /ARSI REFHMT -

movements during the year are as follows:

Group Depreciation Losses available
A allowance in for offsetting
excess of related Revaluation  against future
depreciation of properties  taxable profit Total
R G A K
il Rt HE 8 B 3k A
Vit R BLM i 2k M
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x T#x T#7x T#7T
At 1 April 2007 NEELENH—H 2,050 15,974 (3,412) 14,612
Acquisitions (note 35) W (B E35) - 18,750 - 18,750
Deferred tax charged/(credited) RAEERA (Gt A)
to the income statement W 4 2 1 98 S B IH
during the year (note 10) (Htit10) 520 425 (538) 407
At 31 March 2008 and REZRZNE=ZA=Z+—H
1 April 2008 Lk_ZFNFENH—H 2,570 35,149 (3,950) 33,769

Deferred tax charged/(credited) R4EE XA,/ (FEA)

to the income statement W 25 7% 04 38 A Bl JH
during the year (note 10) (Kfiti0) 429 (23,083) (22) (22,676)
At 31 March 2009 REBRAEZA
=+—0 2,999 12,066 (3,972) 11,093

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £E##& @



‘ VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
&‘mﬁﬁ&ﬁMﬁﬁ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

31. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 31. ¥EHEBLIH (4)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$96,490,000 (2008: HK$27,884,000).
Subject to the final assessment of the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, these tax losses are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of approximately
HK$24,073,000 (2008: HK$22,571,000) of such losses.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the remaining amount of approximately HK$72,417,000
(2008: HK$5,313,000) as it is not considered probable
that there would be sufficient future taxable profits to

utilise such amount.

At 31 March 2009, there was no significant unrecognised
deferred tax liability for taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries or joint ventures as the Group has no liability
to additional tax should such amounts be remitted.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. AR
Shares JBe 43
2009 2008
ZREBMAE ZREN\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T#C Fi#or
Authorised: Wi A
4,000,000,000 (2008: 4,000,000,000) 4,000,000,000/ (ZZF%F )\ 4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 4,000,000,000 /8% ) &5 & Thi {&
0.025% 70 Z ¥ 18 JBt 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: OB AT S SR AR -
1,487,283,600 (2008: 1,485,285,600) 1,487,283,600/% (= F & )\ 4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 1,485,285,600 8% ) 4 % i {EL
0.025% 70 Z ¥ 18 JBt 37,182 37,132
During the year, the subscription rights attaching AAEFE 5 B 1,998,00040 i B HE L i) 57 1 A
to 1,998,000 share options were exercised at the 2 BEAg: 0.4 0 W R NS AT 1 > BRI b 3847
subscription price of HK$0.4 per share, resulting in the 19 JB 1 4 £50.025% 76 1 JBE 431,998,000 »
issue of 1,998,000 shares of HK$0.025 each for a total A ABRE B4R 45 799,0008 G -
cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
HK$799,000.
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 32.

Shares (continued)
A summary of the transactions during the year with

JBe A (%)
By (%1)

ACAE PE Bl 32 By A W] B AT I I AR

reference to the above movement in the Company’s issued FBEHEWT
ordinary share capital is as follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
CEAT Ry C#1T B £
WEH JB A i fe it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T
At 1 April 2007 REFR LA
WH—H 940,758,000 23,519 75,391 98,910
Issue of shares as consideration BATIRADAE B
for acquisitions W 1A 347,826,000 8,696 52,355 61,051
Private placement YN 188,952,000 4,724 38,735 43,459
Share options exercised AT 1 1 8 e 7,749,600 193 1,482 1,675
544,521,600 13,613 92,572 106,185
Share issue expenses Bt @i &R - - (1,069) (1,069)
Transfer from share option Ji J AR £ o A\
reserve - - 510 510
At 31 March 2008 and B ZRR N\
1 April 2008 =H=+—H
B RF)\E
WH—H 1,485,285,600 37,132 167,404 204,536
Share options exercised AT i 1 i B 1,998,000 50 749 799
Transfer from share option Ji L HEE £ 4 A
reserve - - 301 301
At 31 March 2009 KRR
ZA=Z1—H 1,487,283,600 37,182 168,454 205,636
Share options i B
Details of the Company’s share option scheme are AR ) S T RE ) 0 N AR B R M

included in note 33 to the financial statements.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 33. Jis BB vl

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 5 August
2002, the shareholders of the Company approved the
adoption of a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include
full-time employees, including any executive and non-
executive directors of the Group. The Share Option
Scheme became effective on 8 September 2002 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in

force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date when the Share Option Scheme was
approved by the shareholders of the Company in a general
meeting. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Share
Option Scheme within any 12-month period is limited
to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is

subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive,
officer or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

MR R F 4\ H T H 88 2 %8 e ik
S > AN R SR v BR A S AR (T 0 A
HEGHE ) o

Ji IR A ) R o S T A B T SR A
ZIRIEHE RN Z & B2 H1E AT
FISEIED o i e A Bl 2 B B 2 B B A
EMZ 2N R ST AT RIEBT#
P MEBRER BN —RFANUANA A
B> bR 3R PR RE B BAETT A > T ENE A
% HOR A2 330> A8 2 4 o

AL 2 i B ) T A R O A S
Z I R B MR o A R E R AR R ROR
AR A W) B SRR i B PR A 2 A A
OB AT AR #8811 0% Z 3K AT o FEAET+ A
J 350 T VA RS PR - W i S S B 2
fr f EiA% 2 S35 32 ] 7 84T B 2 i
B H » DIARA AR A B Z T8 AT R 1%
Hy P o AT o] P HE — 25 7 O b PR ) 2 i
AR JEUHE T SR B OR Bt ofe

BYPARANFES - TETBN B EERK
B A A B AT I N e A b s
R IR AT E A o JLA > FEATAT
AR > A A R 32RO S
SHEPTEFREEF A ZMEMHERALZ
AT G JBERE > AL AR A ) A 2 LB AT B
0.19% 3% 48 {5 i 3815,000,000% 7C (AR 8 A< A ]
B H O Z AR5 > R R
T B AR & b At o
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. Jik JBEBE w0 (%)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within seven days from the date of the offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total
by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the directors and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the directors, but should not be less than the higher
of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer; or (iii) the nominal value of the
shares of the Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme during the year:

52 2 M T 2 0B I
A AR N A 18 2 AR - 12
H 2 0 e 2 47 0 90 0 - 7
I 2 £ 1k FL 0 » 7 R B 0
(TR

Sl IR W 2 A7 0 M by B SR A MR T
PI=% Z W+ () A2 BB I JBe e 2
H 9T B 22 i 4 H A 5 P 81 2 Wi A
(i) A2 W) JBe 4 36 B 52 th 30 i 4 28 5 H
TP Tt 32 BT e P 3 WO R 5 R Gii ) AR 4 ]
JBe A i L -

e X2 R SR PN )57 9 E SN
T EBRRZHER -

e R B R ) o A B 1 R AT 1 S A
LU

2009 2008
“EENAE ZRE)\E

Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise price of options | exercise price of options
A7 45 6 i B I e S T
TR - 35 B M¥H | kP58 HH
HK$ 000 HK$ ’000

per share per share
IR T T IR T T
At 1 April WA —H 0.396 29,572 0.165 6,900
Granted during the year FEENET 0.790 7,500 0.400 30,722
Exercised during the year AR ATAE 0.400 (1,998) 0.216 (7,750)
Lapsed during the year AN R - - 0.165 (300)
At 31 March W=HAH=+—H 0.480 35,074 0.396 29,572

@ ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 FEHR%E



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ‘
ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ&ﬁﬂ&‘

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. Ji B pE k) (7)
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise AR AR B PR HE AT Y S PR ARE R AT B S Y
for share options exercised during the year was HK$0.4. HE 735 JBe 4 (A% %4 0.4 85T o
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share WEEABEERE o WARAT OB RE AT A
options outstanding as at the balance sheet date are as BATHEHM T ¢
follows:

Exercise price

Number of options per share* Exercise period
i JBE A 8 H 5 AT £ 1 AT
2009 2008 HK$ (d/m/y)
e 2 IS ZER)\E o (H/H /%)
Granted to employees:
BYRA :
On 7 December 2006 540,000 540,000 0.165 07/06/2007 - 06/06/2012
REREANFETZHEH
On 31 August 2007 - 1,998,000 0.400 03/09/2007 — 02/09/2012
RERZEENA =+ —H
Granted to directors:
RTHESF:
On 31 August 2007 27,033,600 27,033,600 0.400 03/09/2007 — 02/09/2012
noFEELE)NA=Z+—H
On 2 June 2008 7,500,000 - 0.790 02/12/2008 - 01/12/2013
woRRNEANAH
35,073,600 29,571,600
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment * I A B sk AT R B AT > SR B AN TR
in case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the He H AR S ) o R R RE O AT A A o
Company’s share capital. A7 % o
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

33. Jilt JBe Bt 0 (%9)

The fair value of the share options granted during
the year was HK$1,998,000, approximately HK$0.27
each (2008: HK$4,619,000, approximately HK$0.15
each). The Group recognised a share option expense of
approximately HK$1,998,000 during the year ended 31
March 2009 (2008: HK$4,726,000).

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used for the
years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008:

A AR BE BT T R RE R A P I AE R
1,998,000% 7t (4 £10.27#78) (ZFFE )N
4F 1 4,619,000 78 (3 #10.15%7T) ) - A%
MAERE RFAE=ZHA =+ — B IREER
2 114 e WEE 2 40 %51,998,0009 78 (R F
JUAE 1 4,726,000 78) ©

AR BEAZ T 1A DURE 25 45 53 0 Ji T ARE % A8
A6 BR FH T4 7 52 — fF 8 0 ) 390 e s (A K7
BT HH > A5 G5 T 1a S i BB A Rk R 1
> R AR o TRIR TREZREIE
B ZFNEZH =+ HIRF R
P g N\ B R

2009 2008

e 2= S ZREN\E

Date of grant (d/m/y) BYHBI(H A 4) 02/06/2008 31/08/2007
Closing price on date of grant T B Wi A

(HK$ per share) (43 ¥ oT) 0.790 0.400

Dividend yield (% per annum) BB R (%) - -

Expected volatility (% per annum) FE I Ok B 2 (B4 %) 86.00 94.45

Historical volatility (% per annum) S P R (B4R %) 86.00 94 .45

Risk-free interest rate (% per annum) 40 J B P 2R (B4R %) 1.35 4.04

Expected life of options (year) 30 i i e RE 40 PR (42) 1 1

The expected life of the options is based on the
assumption that the options will be exercised by the
employees during the first half of the option life. It is not
necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may
occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption
that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,

which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated

into the measurement of fair value.
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31 March 2009 ZFFENEZH=1—H

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
At 31 March 2009, 35,073,600 (2008: 29,571,600)
shares were issuable upon exercise of all share options
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which
represented approximately 2.0% (2008: 2.0%) of the

Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

34. RESERVES
(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity.

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares
and the share premium account of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior
to the listing of the Company’s shares, over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in

exchange therefor.

Certain amounts of goodwill arising on the
acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years remain in
consolidated goodwill reserve as explained in note 18

to the financial statements.

33. Ji B pE k) (7)
N_FFNEZHA=Z+—H > BRAERET
W AR AT S I S B R A A M AT AR ]
W BE AT I AR 35,073,600/ (= FF)\4E ¢
29,571,600/%) » Z A E H CEAT B4 £
2.0% (ZFF/\MHE : 2.0%) °

34. fili i
(a) AdEM
AR 55 [ R AR AR JE 4R JE 2 ok Ak A
T S Y 2 B A B 2 S B 3 o

ARSI Z ATERTIHRAEA A R e dy b
T AR 4 A 5 P A R A ]
B T L D% B i e > B A2 i 56
FEF g 2 W 2 Je Ay T 3R AT 2 AR O ] B A Bt
AT Z 2£ % o

T A 785 A MO R 1S PTARR o R R AR AR B
Ji O B A ) T 2R 2 TR B T R A
B AL B T R o

ANNUAL REPORT 2008/2009 £E##& @



VANTAGE INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

BB R A

&

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
$UE 5 it 3 B ik

31 March 2009 —ZEEAEZH=1+—H

34. RESERVES (continued) 34. fift fi (A1)
(b) Company (b) AAN]
Share Share
premium Conttibuted option  Retained
account surplus reserve profits Total
BemabUk SRS WRHERS KRN B
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
Wit T Tt T T#r T
At 1 April 2007 REZZRZLENA—H 75,391 63,948 185 3,988 143,512
[ssue of shares BT 32 92,572 - - - 92,572
Share issue expenses Bt 815 % 32 (1,069) - - - (1,069)
Transfer upon exercise T P 7 0 A
of share options 32 510 - (510) - -
Profit for the year AR Bl - - - 209 209
Equity-settled share DARE RS 55 50
option arrangements i It B 2 B 33 - - 4,126 - 4,126
At 31 March 2008 and REZZZNE=ZA=+—H
1 April 2008 B=ZZ)\ENA—H 167,404 63,948 4,401 4,197 239,950
[ssue of shares AR 32 749 - - - 749
Transfer upon exercise T T 17 0 1 A
of share options 32 301 - (301) - -
Profit for the year A R A - - - 571 51
Equity-settled share DAHERS B 50
option arrangements i ¢ 2 33 - - 1,998 = 1,998
At 31 March 2009 REZZRE=ZA =40 168,454 63,948 6,098 4,768 243,268
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34. RESERVES (continued) 34. fififl§ (%)

(b) Company (continued)
The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor. Under the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company
may make distributions to its members out of the

contributed surplus in certain circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for
share-based payment transactions in note 2.4 to the

financial statements.

35. ACQUISITIONS

For the year ended 31 March 2008

On 26 October 2007, the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, Profit Chain, completed the acquisitions
(the “Acquisitions”) of the entire issued share capital
and shareholders’ loans of Win Extra and Frason from
Mr. Ngai Chun Hung (“Mr. Ngai”, chairman of the
board and a controlling shareholder of the Company)
and his controlled company pursuant to a conditional
sale and purchase agreement dated 28 August 2007 (the
“Agreement”). The consideration was settled in cash and
by way of issue of 347,826,000 new ordinary shares of
the Company. The transaction constituted a connected
transaction and very substantial acquisition of the

Company, details of which are set out in the Company’s

circular dated 21 September 2007.

The main assets of Win Extra comprise a block of
residential building at Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong which
the Group acquired for investment purposes.

(b) A2 (5)
A Z ANBERTIR AL B A b
AR 458 74 5 1 A WA O 2 e Jeg 2 ] By
Z AR AR A T A8 % S MR A W] 2
JBe A i B8 AT 2 A 4> B A v B 2 R 4
MRBR R —JUN\ 4R AR > AR
ARE TR UL BB R i HROR
i th 3k -

i SRR Gt 8 PH B2 T ~ AR AT 8 Y B
HEZ PRI RE R > 5 SUAR A 85 32
wE2. 43 DL B A 2 B B B 52 A 22 B it
BRI F R o

35. WO

BRECZZANEZH =4 —HIRERE
NEFFLETHAZANE > MR FF
LA )NH Z+)\H ST WA 60 5 1k
(Mzthak]) » AN W) Z 2 % W& 2 B Profic
Chaint B BR 3R e 4 ([BR 8] » K2
A g L R IR ) B e i o 4 ]
Wl (T ) o i B WA 2 2 38 B AT Rt
AR SBHREEK  ARAE DL B4 I AR A B 8 4T
347,826,000 /8 37 5 48 JBt S 43 S A o IE AR G
BEAR 2 ) Z B A8 5 e Je s R WU > A
HHBERRAARAF ZERZLEAA S —HZ
o

B H T B A A — AR A U K bk
BT > A5 WO K AR B
ﬁ o
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35. ACQUISITIONS (continued) 35.

The main assets of Frason comprise the properties which
have been occupied by the Group as its head office under
a tenancy agreement entered into between Frason and the
Group on 29 February 20006, as disclosed in note 39(a).

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Win Extra and Frason acquired during the year ended
31 March 2008 as at the date of the Acquisitions were as

follows:

W (%5)

AR 1 o T A AR R AR 0 A B AR
B A ZRBNAEH A JuH T L i A 5 1
o M A U AR R A T M S R A B R
39(a) P 5%) ©

PRECFRRNEZA=T—HIEFEERK
Ji =z e i e A 2 T e AR WO
MW A FEWE

Fair value
AT
Notes HK$’000
Kt F#x
Property, plant and equipment W - AR R 14 6,310
Investment properties "aEYE 16 185,000
Prepaid land lease payments TEAT - oL A 17 109,440
Prepayments, deposits and other TS SR ~ 4 R It
receivables JRE WLk 630
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KB4 S HY 274
Tax payable JRE A o 3 (84)
Other payables and accruals JH Al JRE A 3 B T AR W (910)
Interest-bearing bank loans ah B ERAT Bk (156,000)
Deferred tax liabilities AR HiE 8 IE £ 0 31 (18,750)
Loans from Mr. Ngai Boe A R A  BEak (42,500)
Net assets acquired WAL B 1 83,410
Acquisition of loans owed by WSe S ot T R4 M
Win Extra and Frason to Mr. Ngai B06 B aK 42,500
125,910
Satisfied by: AT I
Cash B4 64,859
Shares of the Company A ] By 61,051
125,910
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35. ACQUISITIONS (continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash

36.

equivalents in respect of the Acquisitions is as follows:

35. Wi (4)
A R WD 2 B T B S 2 U A
s -

HK$’000

T

Cash consideration B 4Ae R 64,859
Cash and cash equivalents acquired B W B 4 T B 4 S E (274)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents B4 B 4 S E ) 2 U 64,585

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

At 31 March 2009, guarantees given to banks in
respect of performance bonds in favour of contract

customers by the Group amounted to approximately

HK$19,325,000 (2008: HK$133,717,000).

At 31 March 2009, the Company has given
guarantees in favour of certain banks to the
extent of approximately HK$1,091,281,000 (2008:
HK$1,369,704,000) in respect of banking facilities
granted by those banks to certain subsidiaries of
the Company, of which HK$626,576,000 (2008:
HK$822,241,000) was utilised.

In the ordinary course of the Group’s construction
business, the Group has been subject to a number of
claims due to personal injuries suffered by employees
of the Group or the Group’s subcontractors in
accidents arising out of and in the course of their
employment. The directors are of the opinion that
such claims are well covered by insurance and would
not result in any material adverse impact on the
financial position or results and operations of the
Group.

36. B A 1
(a) MZBFNAE=ZH=+—H » REMEH
BT ONEFZBEARENSTHRITH
4% B #019,325,0008 00 (ZFEFE )N
£ 1 133,717,000% ) ©

MoEEZNEZA=Z+—H > KAA
HTRITHRTARARETIHE AR Z 8
1715 B R BU401,091,281,000 76 (—
FF )4 1 1,369,704,000% J6) [] #% %
SRATME MBI - A BRIME A 7 S8 A
h 2 SRATAE £ %#626,576,000 7T (=&
Z\4E : 822,241,000¥0) °

(b) EARKEZ HHEEEBIBES > WH
A5 T S A R T o e 2 e R 3% e 0
1] 2808 5 A0 DA B 52 465 T 1) A4 I R A o
R A B R R R R B 2 R
W > WO B R R i AR M B BOIR
IMEE S Ve S-S /2 SR RUE SN ]

=4
B
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37. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 37. MEBME L
(a) As lessor (a) FEZBHEHELA

The Group leases its investment properties (note
16 to the financial statements) under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from one to three years. The terms of the
leases generally also require the tenants to pay rental
deposits.

At 31 March 2009, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable

operating leases with its tenants falling due as

ACHR B AR R AR AL I PR L B
% (M B mEM L) » BEZMEH
Ry R o HERGR R P
AT E S -

NoBBNEZAZ+—H » KEEAR
TR AT B A A T 2 H AR R
I KA & A 3R B T -

follows:

Group

A 4R 1
2009 2008
“EENAE ZRFEN\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T F#x
Within one year —4ER 14,363 6,739
In the second to fifth years, inclusive %8 25 T4 (R E R W 4E) 21,322 1,588
After five years AR - 39
35,685 8,366
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37. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)
(b) As lessee
The Group leases certain of its office properties
under operating lease arrangements. Leases for
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one

to three years.

At 31 March 2009, the Group had total future

minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

37. MBME L (H)

(b) HEZyRRLA
A5 AL 2 2 AL B R AR T
Y o BV E ZHEH NP
—FZAE

&

REFRZIEZA=Z+—H o REEM
RS T L A L B 2 H AR MR

operating leases falling due as follows: AR E M AR B W T -
Group
A
2009 2008
ZRBHAE ZREN\S
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# T
Within one year —4E N 2,094 1,997
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5 ~Z 58 f4F (B H R W) 1,661 1,914
3,755 3911

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 37(b) above, the Group had the following capital

commitments at the balance sheet date:

38. B AR AR
I F SRR EE37(b) wf i BB A B R EEAD » R
EREAMGBKH » AREEERDTEARR :

Group
L |
2009 2008
ZREBMAE ZRER)\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # T¥#7x
Expenditure for development or MU TWRECED
redevelopment projects, contracted, H A 48 5 =2 % g 5
but not provided for, in respect of: HEHEZ MY :
Properties held for development FHEEERZWE 4,736 -
Existing investment properties BAREWE 3,874 -
Properties under development By 3 360 -
8,970 -
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to those transactions and balances

disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the

39.

B 2t 5 32 )
(a)  BRIAA A5 A SU A 04 Pt 2 % 4 58
5 Be G ERAD > A G A ACAR JBE P 4 S

Group had the following transactions with related HITHEIT TR S ¢
parties during the year:
Group
A 4R 1M
2009 2008
—EERNAE ZRE)\E
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
M 7t T TF#x
Rental expense paid to R B R A )
Win Source Investment (TPREE]) Xz
Limited (“Win Source”) 4 (i) 28 66
Rental expense paid to Frason A 7 452 ) Wi I M A i
before its acquisition by P AE A 2
the Group 4T (ii) - 2,100
Management income received A A 5 [ — 3k ] 2 )
from Excel-China Harbour TR R
Joint Venture, a jointly-controlled ¥ ¥ I 2 W BL 2
entity of the Group (Note 20) FHWA (Mit20) (iii) 3,030 2,180
Sales of a motor vehicle to HERE T
Winflower Investment Limited BEARAF
(“Winflower”) ([E4E 1) (iv) 300 -
Notes: MaE ¢

(1)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Ngai, chairman of the board and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, is also a director of Win
Source. The rental expense was determined at a rate
mutually agreed between the Group and Win Source by
reference to the prevailing market rate.

On 28 February 2006, the Group entered into a tenancy
agreement with Frason for the lease of office premises for a
three-year term from 1 March 2006 to 28 February 2009 at
a monthly rental of HK$300,000, which was determined by
reference to the prevailing market rate. Before its acquisition
by the Group in October 2007 (note 35), Frason had been
wholly-owned by Mr. Ngai.

The management income is determined by reference to the
costs incurred.

Mr. Ngai is also a director of Winflower. The price of the
motor vehicle was determined at a rate mutually agreed
between the Group and Winflower by reference to the
prevailing market price.
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MR ANEZA )\ » RKEEMH
LR £ BT 3 0 B ok DA R A R
B> B =4 HZFRANEEH —
HEZEZRZHALEA+NH I
H #175300,0009 56 » H 75 2 BB AT T
M EBEMEE - EAREEP TR L
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BT RS (M)
(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the (b) AR EZAAAA B ARG 1E
Group
Group
A 4
2009 2008
“REIAE ZRFEN\E
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 T
Short term employee benefits Y08 B AR A 27,380 21,008
Post-employment benefits R T A% 1 ) 214 196
Equity-settled share option expense VL HE £i 45 550 0 Ji6 S A B S 1,998 4,319
Total compensation paid to key XA T EREEEAR
management personnel I 4 i 1 29,592 25,523
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included A BEF BN - R
in note 8 to the financial statements. e M 5ES o
40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. 175 b B 4 B H B B 0K
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s major financial instruments include AHE B R TR SR - REOR K
borrowings, accounts and other receivables, accounts B Al JE Wk T~ B A MR K B At B A 3k
and other payables, bank balances and deposits and T~ BATHR KR > U RAMTASR T A -
derivative financial instruments. Details of these financial HRZELSB T HNEN > EMBERENS
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes to the R R o

financial statements.

The Group’s ordinary activities expose it to various A £ T 1) 38 TG ) A 3 8 i B 2o T A
financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk (P O S <9 N = gy s K Y
and liquidity risk. Whilst the Group uses interest rate B o A AR J ) P R 3 00 5 A% 20 Dok L v
swaps to mitigate its exposure to fluctuations of interest R 3 e 58 g S - AL A % R SN o A A 4
rates, it does not use derivative financial instruments for BT HAE B & - B B4Rl T 5 A JE g DA
speculative purposes. The risks associated with financial e tn ol A % 4 SR B BOSR > AR TR SO At o
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these G P i B 2 A 4 B v S 0 B TR
risks are described below. The management monitors DT A3 J I B A A% b R IO % B

closely the Group’s exposures to financial risks to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. W B B 45 B H BE B BOR (7))

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt

obligations with floating interest rate.

To mitigate the cash flow interest rate risk, the Group has
entered into interest rate swaps, denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, with a bank which does not qualify for
hedge accounting (note 28). The changes in the fair value
of the interest rate swaps would have an insignificant
effect on the Group’s profit/loss or other components of
equity exposure if the market interest rates at 31 March
2009 and 2008 had been 25 basis points higher or lower
with all other variables held constant.

At 31 March 2009, it is estimated that an increase/
decrease of 25 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would increase/decrease
the Group’s loss after tax and decrease/increase retained
profits by approximately HK$1,217,000, arising as a result
of higher/lower interest expenses on the Group’s floating-
rate borrowings. At 31 March 2008, this would result in
a decreasef/increase in the Group’s profit after tax and
retained profits by approximately HK$1,428,000. There
would be no impact on other components of the Group’s

equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the balance sheet date. For the purposes of the analysis,
it is assumed that the amount of variable-rate borrowings
outstanding at the balance sheet date was outstanding
throughout the whole year. The 25 basis point increase
or decrease represents management assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual balance sheet date. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008.
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Bim WA 25 RSB > B A A S I AR R
g% > R |1 AR 4R [ v B R 20 AR i AR B
MW s A Y R RLAE R SR B
W B AR B i R A Bm#11,217,000%
Joe RZFBFENFE=ZH=+—H > BEliL
A5 19 11 B3R A0 A% ¥ 1) % A B R RS A 38 T
1,428,000% 7C o A< 52 15 HE i i 1 Aib 41 B 5 43
R 2B 5% o

A R gy BT U BN R A ) R
BB H B4 - T AT o b > BRI B R
B AR H R AR 13 B AR AR A
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. W B B 45 B H BE B BOR (7))

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
deposits, accounts and other receivables, and counter-
party financial obligations in derivative financial
instruments. The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure
at 31 March 2009 in the event of other parties failing
to perform their obligations is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset as stated in the
consolidated balance sheet, except for the contingent
liabilities as disclosed in note 36.

As the Group places deposits and enters into derivative
contracts only with banks with high credit ratings, the
credit risk in this regard is low.

Management monitors the credit worthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an on-going basis.
The Group’s receivables from contract work represent
interim payments or retentions certified by the customers
under terms as stipulated in the contracts. Whilst the
Group’s customers in respect of contract work primarily
consist of government departments and developers or
owners with strong financial backgrounds, management
considers that the risk of irrecoverable receivables from
contract work is not significant. In respect of rentals
receivable, to limit the credit risk exposure, deposits are
required of each tenant upon inception of the leases and
monthly rentals are received in advance. Payments from
each tenant are monitored and collectibility is reviewed
closely.

At 31 March 2009, the Group had a certain
concentration of credit risk as 23% (2008: 31%) and
77% (2008: 85%) of the total accounts receivable were
due from the one single external customer and the five
single external customers respectively within the building
construction, maintenance and engineering works
segments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts and other
receivables are disclosed in notes 24 and 25, respectively,
to the financial statements.
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F 5 W B e o i Se A5 A REJE AT I 3%
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V1 d s R A R A S L AT AR
BE R P P A A B > M P RE 3 6P 4 R
Z R ABRSL

FH A A S8 [ 18 A kO EL A T s R R A I SR AT
Te AT SaAT A THAH > BOR B & -
5 B L BB, o

L o B N R A A SR N WA T
P BRI o AR Z B H TR
AR £ 20 T BT A Rk S A I vp A sk sl % P
BE AR - RAEHBGHTREF LR
15 BOR 0 1 B B A 58 K B 2 15 5 A e vl
BT WOAF B RS o A REME Bz A
A TR AN K o A B HE MR 4 > 2 Bk
6K i 35 1 £ B IR B > 4% 3 A AL B PR 4
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

40.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to monitor regularly the current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in short and
long terms. In addition, banking facilities have been put

in place for contingency purposes.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s non-
derivative and derivative financial liabilities, which are
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates, or if
floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date)
and the earliest date that the Group could be required to

repay:

S 5 MR B A B H B B BOR (4D

i ) ¥E 4 B

7 45 [ 1 B SR A B B % TR B
S > DU IRIL AR R BB R A
S M I TR A R A R > D
e I R BRI S T o sk > A
RO LPERATRE B > AR Z T o

TS AR B I A A B AT A BB
HAEAMEH MREGHAH - TRIIRES
HIRIT BB S ift B (B3 DA & A0 R gl )
FEEA R > LR B A R AR H B AT A R
AH SRR AR T B A > % e R AR TS
AR 9 A G5 1] T 26 ARk P s L T

Group
A 45 14
Within 1  Between  Between
year or on 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
demand years years 5 years Total
R
Bk E R %248 2%54 54K Hm
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T#x  T#r  THErL  THL  THEX
At 31 March 2009 R_ZZAAEZA=4—H
Interest-bearing bank loans 5 & 8847 B3 206,822 32,763 97,202 322,027 658,814
Accounts payable JRE A5} M 3k 238,486 - - - 238,486
Other payables (note 29) Fo At HE A 3% (W 7E29) 11,223 - - - 11,223
456,531 32,763 97,202 322,027 908,523
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

&

40. B35 W% 4% BEL H B B BOR (A

Liquidity risk (continued) W) ¥ 4 L B (7))
Group
A4
Within 1 Between  Between
year or on 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
demand years years 5 years Total
IE G|
B R 18248 2854 S4ER B
HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000
T T T T T
At 31 March 2008 REFFNFE=ZA=+—H
Interest-bearing bank loans &t B 847 B3 204,304 132,320 99,072 358,609 794,305
Accounts payable JRE A Hie 3k 251,398 - - - 251,398
Other payables (note 29) A 8 3k (M aE29) 7,953 - - - 7,953
463,655 132,320 99,072 358,609 1,053,656

As at 31 March 2009 and 2008, the Company’s other
payables, as disclosed in note 29, were without interest

and payable within one year or on demand.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital
management policy is to ensure that the Company will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodical basis. As a part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital and will
balance the Company’s overall capital structure through
new share issues as well as raising new debts or repayment

of existing debts.

RORFAER CRRNESAST 0
A 7 W SEAME R (£ B 29 73 188 T
AL » SRR P ok R T R

joE4igid
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A A T B e A i TR 1R e P A o TR
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued) HEEM(H)

The Group monitors capital using a net gearing ratio

derived from the consolidated balance sheet. The

following table analyses the Group’s capital structure as at

31 March 20009:

40. B35 W% 4% BEL H B B BOR (A

ACSE AL IR 2 B A% 6 SRR MU R L
SRR ERE S - TRAREEN
FRNEZA=Z+—HEARRREZ 57

2009 2008
“ERMAE ZRE)N\E
HK$’000 HK$’000
T # F#or

Total interest-bearing borrowings HEE B K 583,150 692,562
Less: Pledged bank balance Wk BRI ERAT AL AR (1,043) (1,612)

Pledged time deposits ORI A R (4,469) (4,423)

Cash and cash equivalents Ble RBLEEHEY (206,591) (83,802)
Net borrowings T4 371,047 602,725
Total equity HAREZS 418,065 494,517
Net gearing ratio HAE AR LL R 89% 122%

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 41. W B W R 2
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the board of directors on 15 July 2009. oy A v R A o
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